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MISSION
To promote competition, 

by enforcing the Competition Act, 
in the interest of consumers, 

businesses and the Mauritian Economy

VISION
To be the leading competition authority 

in the region, recognised for its integrity, 
professionalism and contribution 

to economic growth
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For the second time in our history, 
we are presenting a combined 
report covering this time the 
period 2014 to 2015, mindful of 
the provisions of section 35 of the 
Competition Act 2007 and in our 
endeavour to try to do away with 
the practice of narrating events 
of the distant past instead of 
dealing with current affairs of 
topical interest. The year 2014, 

it will be recalled, had marked five years down the road since 
the Competition Commission of Mauritius (CCM) has been 
operating in the economic landscape of Mauritius. There is 
no need, in my opinion, to dwell on the evolution of the CCM’s 
enforcement activities and its outreach initiatives for the 
period 2014-2015 that is faithfully recorded in the chapters of 
this Annual Report. 

I need only to highlight that, apart from handing down 
decisions in five cases, the CCM also accepted its first leniency 
application under its Leniency Programme after a period of five 
years, and inflicted, after a hearing, in a majority decision, 
financial penalties to the tune of 26 million rupees on two 
enterprises for their involvement in a collusive agreement in 
the beer market in Mauritius. 

For two of our colleagues, however, who wrote a dissenting 
opinion, the fine should have been much more than the one 
imposed, for the reasons given by them. It is regrettable, to 
say the least, that this minority decision was not at first 
published alongside the majority judgement by the former 
Executive Director who had sought the advice of a junior officer 
in the DPP’s Office. Thankfully the new legal adviser of the 
CCM reversed this questionable advice and both majority and 
minority decisions were published together at long last this 
year.  This case illustrates vividly that, although the CCM has 
limited resources, it must deliver sound decisions, which stand 
up, not only to public scrutiny but also to any judicial review, 
are based on sound economic and legal reasoning and observe 
due process.

In line with its strategic objectives, the CCM has understandably 
maintained a strong focus on the internal capacity building 
of its human capital and sustained engagement aimed at 
creating value for our partners and stakeholders at the national 
level.  The year 2014 also saw the CCM consolidating its efforts 
to build a common competition language, through its advocacy 
initiatives, on regional and international fronts.  The hosting 
of the ICN Advocacy Workshop in Mauritius is, in this regard, 
a tangible evidence of the CCM’s leadership in its role as 
competition advocate.
  
The Competition Act 2007 has provided the CCM with much 
scope and latitude to detect, and act upon, any breaches of 
the Act, regardless of economic trends or business cycles. 
The CCM must consequently ensure a vigorous and effective 
enforcement of competition law, which is at the root of its 
activities. Such enforcement must uncover harmful cartels 
while our Leniency Programme must make it easier and more 
attractive for enterprises to disclose cartel agreements. 
  
I am confident that, as a culture of compliance develops in 
Mauritius depending on the enforcement and advocacy work 
of the CCM, enterprises will come to understand the harm that 
cartels cause to the economy, refrain from anticompetitive 
conduct and even, I venture to suggest, dare to denounce such 
behaviour to the CCM. 

The CCM must also diversify its tools to detect bid rigging while 
striving to ensure, through its advocacy work, that competition 
is embedded in the formulation and implementation of public 
policies. For instance, it can work closely with procurement 
officials so that competition in tenders promotes efficient 
public procurement and saves taxpayers’ money. 

One last observation. I cannot overlook the fact that in 2015 
the CCM has been rocked by major changes and alleged 
improprieties. There has been a change of Executive Director 
with the new one appointed in April 2015 and four new 
Commissioners, including a Vice-Chairperson, have been 
appointed in 2016. In order to avoid the problems that have 
confronted the CCM in the past, I consider that not only the 
staff members of the CCM but also the Executive Director 

CHAIRPERSON’S MESSAGE
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and all the Commissioners must adhere scrupulously to the 
principles spelt out in paragraph 2.3 of the Human Resources 
Manual of the CCM which is as follows:

(Staff members) “ Are expected to act as role models of ethical 
behaviour in the eyes of the stakeholders and the general public 
at large…they shall act honestly, impartially, with discretion, 
without regard to self-interest and with exclusive loyalty to the 
Commission. They shall also avoid any situation of conflict 
of interest or such situation where their integrity might be 
questioned.”

I am happy to report that all the Commissioners have voluntarily 
agreed to be bound by the provisions of the Human Resources 
Manual of the CCM, where applicable.

Ariranga G. Pillay, G.O.S.K
Chairperson



I am delighted to present, in this 
report, the work accomplished 
and the initiatives taken by 
the CCM during the period 
ending December 2015. Since 
its inception, the CCM has 
relentlessly endeavoured to 
create a level playing field 
for enterprises in Mauritius 
to compete more fairly for the 
ultimate benefit of consumers 

and the economy. The CCM has over the years established itself 
as a truly effective enforcer of competition law in Mauritius, 
whilst at the same time aiming to foster competitive markets 
rather than merely penalizing infringements of the Competition 
Act.

The CCM is a small institution with limited resources 
but it nevertheless shoulders the massive responsibility 
of maintaining an economic environment conductive to 
competition in Mauritius.

Enforcement initiatives 

The CCM’s core activity remains the enforcement of the 
Competition Act 2007, by conducting enquiries and 
investigations. Through these, the CCM ensures that enterprises 
are operating within the legal framework to see to it that 
competition is not being restricted, distorted or prevented in any 
markets in Mauritius. Over and above 4 ongoing investigations 
at the start of year 2014, the CCM opened 3 investigations in 
year 2014 and 6 investigations in year 2015 respectively. 

One of the notable investigations which the CCM conducted 
was the merger review of Holcim Ltd and Lafarge S.A, an 
international merger which had a direct effect on the local 
market. The CCM saw through the divestment of Holcim Ltd 
which was subsequently acquired by Gamma Civic Ltd to form 
Kolos Cement Ltd. The CCM intervention in this cement market 
ensured that there remained competition on the market after 
the merger of Holcim Ltd and Lafarge SA. 

The Executive Director’s work also includes conducting 
enquiries. These are initiated so that the Executive Director 
may filter out which cases should proceed to investigation and 
which not. Enquiries therefore enable the Executive Director to 
initiate actions on a more or less informal basis whereby an 
assessment is made whether there are reasonable grounds to 
initiate investigations. During year 2014, 28 such enquiries 
were initiated. Added to that, the 12 ongoing enquiries which 
were launch from the preceding year, the CCM therefore 
administered 40 enquiries in all in year 2014. In year 2015, the 
CCM opened 20 enquiries whilst 30 were closed. These enquiries 
cut across a variety of markets and industries from agricultural 
sector to information and technology sectors. You will find in 
the pages that follow, a brief of some of those enquiries. 

Outreach Initiatives

The CCM firmly believes that its advocacy initiatives are as 
important as its enforcement mandate. Indeed the Competition 
Act requires the Executive Director to promote and advertise 
the provisions of the Competition Act and the activities of the 
Commission. As such, creating awareness of competition law 
and policy in Mauritius continues to be a priority area for the 
CCM in its efforts to raise awareness and assist businesses in 
complying with the Competition Act. To this end, the CCM will 
continue to invest on its advocacy and outreach initiatives and 
will seek novel ways to reach out to the citizens of Mauritius 
with the aim to advocate the provisions of the Competition Act 
and inculcating a strong competition culture. The CCM will also 
endeavour to organize targeted workshops to provide a forum 
for open discussion on challenging competition issues.

Going forward

Laws have to be constantly reviewed and updated so as to 
better reflect the business landscape in Mauritius, which is in 
a constant state of flux. The CCM will aim to bring proposals 
to Government to refresh the Competition Act and at the same 
time enhance its efficacy by making better provisions for 
competition law enforcement in Mauritius.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE
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The CCM will continue to invest in building capacity to enhance 
the technical capabilities of its investigative staff. The CCM 
recognizes that for it to be able to achieve its mission and 
vision effectively, it needs to provide the necessary tools to its 
investigative staff. 

The CCM is mindful of the fact that international relations 
with institutions with the same mandate like the CCM is 
primordial. The CCM will therefore seek to continue reinforce 
such relationships through collaborations and MOUs which 
will foster joint enforcement, capacity building, sharing of 
information amongst others. 

I wish to thank the staff of the institution who have been 
working relentlessly to fulfil the mandate of the Commission. 
I am confident that with the existing pool of knowledge and 
expertise at the CCM, we will be able to forge forward and 
remain one of the leading competition agencies in the region. 

I would also like to thank all stakeholders for their invaluable 
collaboration with the CCM may they be from the private sector 
or the public sector. Such collaboration enables the CCM to 
gauge the effectiveness of its endeavours so that it may remain 
on top of its game. 

Our resolve remains to enforce the Competition Act in a 
vigorous, transparent, fair and fact-based manner in order to 
ensure that consumers benefit from a competitive market place 
and  ultimately fostering an economy which works for the many 
and not only the few. 

Deshmuk Kowlessur
Executive Director

    EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE (Contd.)
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The Competition Commission of Mauritius (the ‘CCM’) is wholly committed to attaining the highest standards of corporate 
governance and gaining recognition for its integrity and professionalism as well as for the sound achievement of its mission, 
which is to promote competition by enforcing the Competition Act 2007 (the ‘Act’), in the interest of consumers, businesses and 
the economy.

This section outlines the internal standards of compliance introduced by the CCM under the requirements of the ‘Code of Corporate 
Governance for Mauritius’. It provides an overview of the administration of the Commission and the self-regulating procedures set 
up for maintaining checks and balances within the organisation.

As a para-statal body falling under the aegis of the Ministry of Financial Services, Good Governance, and Institutional Reforms, 
the Commission restates its commitment to fulfil its mandate, in a manner that is consistent with good governance practices. 
Transparency, impartiality, greater accountability and responsibility are the core values which define the CCM’s corporate culture 
and guide dealings with all stakeholders.

The Provisions of the Competition Act

The Act establishes two distinct arms: an investigative one, which is spearheaded by the Executive Director1, and an adjudicative 
one, which is constituted of five Commissioners, namely, a Chairperson, a Vice-Chairperson, and three Commissioners. 

The Executive Director is empowered under the Act to investigate restrictive business practices that affect markets in Mauritius. 
The Executive Director is supported by the staff of the Commission and is responsible for the day-to-day management and 
administration of the Commission.

On their side, the Commissioners are provided with adjudicative duties under the Act, determining cases reported by the Executive 
Director and thereafter publishing reasoned decisions. This ensures transparency, independence, and accountability in its 
decision-making process.

In the exercise of their statutory duties, the Commissioners and the Executive Director are called upon to act independently. 
The Executive Director is neither subject to the direction of the Commissioners nor that of any Organ of the State. Similarly, the 
Commissioners are not subject to the direction and control of any person or Organ of the State. They are only accountable to the 
Parliament through the submission of the Annual Report. 

The provisions of the Act regarding the appointment of the Commissioners and the Executive Director make it another prime 
pillar that ensure and promote good governance practices within the institution. Under the Act, Commissioners and the Executive 
Director are appointed by the President of the Republic of Mauritius on the advice of the Prime Minister following consultation with 
the Leader of the Opposition. 

Commissioners hold office for a term of five years and not more than two consecutive terms in case they are re-appointed. They 
are appointed by virtue of their qualifications and experience in law, economics, accountancy, or commerce and must comprise of 
people from the public and private sectors as well as from the academia. 

1
  For the purpose of this report, references to the Executive Director for the period running from January 2014 to January 2015 are made 

to Mrs. N. Meetarbhan, the former Executive Director of the CCM.

    CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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 The Act does not limit the Executive Director’s term of appointment and it guarantees security of tenure for both the latter and the 
Commissioners. 

In addition, the Commissioners, the Executive Director and every staff member of the Commission are required, under the Act, 
to declare their assets and liabilities as well as those of their spouse and children, to the Independent Commission Against 
Corruption every year.

Based on the above provisions, the Act clearly sets the base for sound corporate governance practices within the Commission.

Administration of the Commission

In 2014, the Commissioners were as follows:

1. Mr. Ariranga G Pillay  G.O.S.K - Chairperson
2. Mr. Rajiv Servansingh - Vice-Chairperson
3. Mr. Rodney Rama  - Commissioner
4. Mr. Reshad Sadool  - Commissioner
5. Mrs. Selvam Poonoosamy - Commissioner

On 30th December 2014, Mr. Servansingh submitted his resignation as Vice-Chairperson of the Commission. As such, in 2015, the 
Commissioners were:

1. Mr. Ariranga G Pillay G.O.S.K - Chairperson
2. Mr. Rodney Rama - Commissioner
3. Mr. Reshad Sadool - Commissioner
4. Mrs. Selvam Poonoosamy - Commissioner 

The Commission holds monthly meetings for the effective discharge of its functions. At any meeting, three Commissioners constitute 
a quorum. The Executive Director attends Commission meetings, but does not have the right to vote. Special Commission meetings 
may also be convened when necessary, to address key issues.

The Commission met twelve times in 2014. The table below shows Commissioners’ attendance to Commission meetings (including 
special ones, if any) and their fees during the said year. 

COMMISSIONER NO OF COMMISSION 
MEETINGS ATTENDED

APPOINTMENT DATE FEES FOR THE YEAR 2014

Ariranga G Pillay, G.O.S.K 10 15th  July 2013 1,324,258

Rajiv Servansingh 12 5th June 2009 878,400

Rodney Rama 12 5th June 2009 570,000

Reshad Sadool 12 5th June 2009 570,000

Selvam Poonoosamy 11 5th June 2009 570,000

Table I: Commission Meetings for the year 2014
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During 2015, the Commission met 12 times. Table 2 shows the attendance of each Commissioner, as well as their corresponding 
fees.

COMMISSIONER NO OF COMMISSION 
MEETINGS ATTENDED APPOINTMENT DATE FEES FOR THE YEAR 2015

Ariranga G Pillay, G.O.S.K 12 15th  July 2013 1,324,800

Rodney Rama 12 5th June 2009 570,000

Reshad Sadool 9 5th June 2009 570,000

Selvam Poonoosamy 12 5th June 2009 570,000

Table 2. Commission Meetings for the year 2015

Audit Committee of the Commission

Major decisions in relation to matters linked to Finance, Procurement, Human Resources, and Corporate Governance are dealt 
with directly at the level of the Commission. The Commission was assisted by the Audit Committee in delivering its duties. The 
Committee was chaired by Mr. Reshad Sadool and Mr. Rodney Rama as a Committee member.

The core duties of the Committee are to oversee the overall standard and quality of financial reporting and internal control system, 
and to implement, where applicable, the recommendations and proposals of external auditors with respect to enhancement of the 
internal control system. In 2014, the Committee met on two occasions, while in 2015, it met on one occasion.

External Auditing and Accounting

The CCM ensures the preparation of the Annual Report, including the financial statements, for each calendar year. The Annual 
Report is submitted to the National Audit Office, which audits the statements and submits the Annual Report together with its 
Audit report to the CCM.

The Commission, under the scrutiny of the Audit Committee, has always promptly addressed the recommendations of the external 
auditors.

Upon receipt of the Annual Report including the audited financial statements and the Audit Report, the Commission submits the 
documents to the National Assembly through its responsible Minister.

Related Party Transactions

During 2014 and 2015, there have been no related party transactions involving any member of the CCM. 
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The Executive Director of the CCM is mandated and empowered 
under the Act to investigate restrictive business practices set 
out under Part III of the Act. Part III of the Act caters for four 
main types of anticompetitive practices: collusive agreements 
(which are prohibited), other restrictive agreements, abuse of 
monopoly situations and mergers that result in the substantial 
lessening of competition. 
 
Where the Executive Director receives a complaint or otherwise 
becomes aware that a restrictive business practice has 
occurred, is occurring, or is about to occur, the Executive 
Director may investigate the matter. As provided under the 
CCM Rules of Procedure 2009 and in order to make an effective 
and judicious use of available resources, investigations are 
normally preceded by enquiries. As opposed to investigations, 
enquiries are not published on the CCM’s website. They relate 
mainly to an information gathering process which enables 
the Executive Director to assess whether there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that a restrictive business practice has 
occurred, is occurring or is about to occur, thus warranting the 
initiation of an investigation.

REVIEW FOR 2014

ENQUIRIES

During 2014, 76 issues were reported to the CCM. Following 
a screening process, 28 issues were referred for enquiry. This 
figure, added to the 12 ongoing enquiries at the beginning of 
the period under review, brought the total number of enquiries 
handled by the CCM during 2014 to 40. The issues were 
related to various sectors of the economy, including Media 
& Information and Communications Technologies, Food & 
Beverages, Insurance, Banking & Finance, and Construction & 
Property Development.

Out of the 40 enquiries carried out by the CCM during 2014, 
12 were closed due to the absence of reasonable grounds to 
believe in a likely instance of restrictive business practice. 
Three enquiries proceeded to investigation.  

Table 3 represents the figures, which pertain to enquiries 
administered during 2014, providing a breakdown in terms of 
the different theories2  which were assessed.

ABUSE OF 
MONOPOLY

MERGER 
REVIEW CARTEL MARKET 

REVIEWS TOTAL

Number of ongoing enquiries through 1st January 2014 10 0 2 - 12

Number of new enquiries launched during 2014 12 6 6 4 28

Total number of enquiries administered during 2014 22 6 8 4 40

Number of enquiries recommending investigation - 1 2 - 3

Number of enquiries with no reasonable grounds to further 
pursue the matter

9 2 1 0 12

Number of ongoing enquiries through 31st December 
2014 13 3 5 4 25

Table 3: Enquiry review for the year 2014

2
  Theories here refer to established lines of reasoning under which competition law principles are applied to preliminary facts (as opposed 

to evidence) for the purpose of determining whether there are reasonable grounds to investigate an alleged restrictive business practice 
under section 51 of the  Act.

   OPERATIONAL REVIEW

12  AnnuAl RepoRt 2014 & 2015



 OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Contd.)

Table 4 provides an overview of the enquiries completed in 2014 (with the exception of those conducted in relation to cartel and/
or held confidential) closed with no further action. 

SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Engineering ENQ 106 Merger Review

A company involved in engineering 
and contracting services would be 
acquired by another company in the 
same field, which could possibly 
amount to a merger situation as 
per the Act. 

The acquisition did not amount 
to a merger situation as the two 
companies in question were sister 
companies and their holding 
company already had effective 
control over the two entities. 

Education ENQ 108

Monopoly abuse
-

Exclusionary 
Conduct

The allegation was that a school 
was abusing of its monopoly 
situation in the provision of 
education services in a defined 
geographical area to prevent, 
restrict, or distort competition in 
the market for the supply of school 
uniforms by requiring students 
to purchase uniforms from an 
exclusive supplier.

It was found that there were no 
such restrictions being imposed 
by the school and students/
parents were free to buy their 
uniforms from any supplier 
insofar that specifications were 
met.

Leisure & 
Tourism

ENQ 113

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

The allegation was that a  
particular hotel could have been 
foreclosing speedboat operators 
by preventing them from operating 
from their only mooring place in 
front of the hotel, as the latter 
was promoting its own catamaran 
services and did not want clients 
of the hotel to have access to the 
speedboats.

The enquiry showed that the 
speedboats operators could moor 
at a nearby embarkation point as 
well. Moreover, the hotel provided 
documentary evidence that they 
acted in good faith vis-à-vis the 
speedboat operators. 

Food & 
Beverages

ENQ 115

Abuse of 
monopoly 
situation 

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

This concerned the terms of an 
agreement between a supplier 
of dairy products and retailers. 
The agreement allegedly provided 
that retailers could not use chiller 
cabinets, which were put at their 
disposal by the supplier, to stock 
products from rival suppliers. 

No foreclosure effect could be 
observed during the enquiry and 
if any, it would be neutralized by 
the availability of space in coolers 
provided by the same company 
under an undertaking accepted 
by the CCM for the purposes of an 
investigation.
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Tourism ENQ 116

Abuse of 
monopoly 
situation

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

It was averred that one hotel, in the 
4-5 star segment, was practicing 
price discrimination by charging a 
higher price for its accommodation 
to a local Tour Operator compared 
to International Tour Operators.

The hotel was found not be in a 
monopoly situation. The price 
differential was alleged to be due 
to buyer power imposed on hotels 
by international Tour Operators as 
they deal in volume.

Media & ICT ENQ 118

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

It was alleged that a large 
multinational satellite pay 
Television distributor could 
have been setting its prices at a 
predatory level for the wholesale 
supply of specific pay-TV content 
packages to one of its local 
subsidiaries. Such pricing could 
eventually drive competitors out of 
the market.

There was no evidence that the 
wholesale prices were set below 
costs. It was also gathered 
that if it was assumed that 
competitors were driven out of 
the market, the local subsidiary 
of the multinational would not be 
able to recoup any losses arising 
from the alleged predation within 
a reasonable period following the 
hypothetical exit of competitors.

Insurance & 
Banking

ENQ 120

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

A general insurance provider was 
allegedly refusing to include the 
satellites of a group of private 
clinics on its list of preferred 
medical providers. This could 
have precluded insured customers 
from using cashless services for 
healthcare dispended by providers 
not found on the preferred list.

The enquiry revealed that in spite 
of being in a monopoly situation, 
the insurance provider did not 
have any financial incentive to 
foreclose the satellites concerned 
by the allegation. It was also 
found that any exclusive dealing 
with healthcare providers was 
likely to result in higher rates 
being charged to the insurer 
in the medium term but not to 
consumers.

   OPERATIONAL REVIEW (Contd.)
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Media & ICT ENQ 127

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

A telecommunications provider 
was allegedly refusing to supply a 
business internet service provider 
with wholesale prices on its leased 
line offers, which it also provided 
to its own retail customers. The 
conduct could thus have been 
restricting the provider’s ability to 
offer competitive prices.

The conduct of the wholesale 
provider, which was in a 
monopoly situation, could amount 
to a margin squeeze and an 
investigation into the matter 
was recommended. The ICTA 
was made aware of the situation 
and on 19th August 2014, the 
regulator announced that it had 
approved the introduction of 
wholesale tariffs for leased lines 
across Mauritius. Since the same 
measure had been contemplated 
by the CCM as remedy in the event 
of a finding of a breach following 
any investigation into the matter, 
the enquiry was closed without 
further action.

Food & 
Beverages

ENQ 131 Merger Review

This concerned an application for 
guidance on the acquisition of 
certain assets of one company by 
another.

The transaction did not qualify as 
a merger situation under the Act.

Media and ICT ENQ 136

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary & 

Exploitative 
Conduct

A telecommunications operator 
was offering a retail high-speed 
internet service, which also 
comprised of a fixed phone line 
offer. The conduct could have 
been preventing consumers from 
having access to fixed line offers 
from other operators, which could 
not offer comparable high-speed 
internet services.

The enquiry revealed that the 
telecommunications operator 
could be in a monopoly situation 
within the high-speed broadband 
internet access and fixed-line 
telephony markets. The conjoint 
offer could amount to be a tie-in 
since competing operators with 
less market power offered each 
component of the offer separately. 
However, the second largest 
provider of high-speed internet 
and fixed phone line services 
submitted that the alleged tie-
in was not affecting its sales in 
either market and that it was 
itself contemplating the launch 
of a comparable package.
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INVESTIGATIONS

A core function of the CCM is the enforcement of the Act 
through investigations and subsequent reporting by the office 
of the Executive Director. Thereupon, directions or penalties 
aimed at deterring and remedying anti-competitive practices 
are determined in reasoned decisions of the Commission and 
consequently enforced. 

Section 35(2) of the Act provides that the Annual Report 
of the CCM shall, as far as possible, give an account of the 
investigations that were carried out and their outcome as well 
as any decision of the Commission in respect of completed 
investigations.

In the course of 2014, the Executive Director initiated three new 
and completed four investigations. As at the end of 2014, there 
were seven ongoing investigations and one ongoing market 
study3. Matters under investigation included a potential breach 
relating to the payment cards market in Mauritius, a proposed 
merger between Holcim Ltd and Lafarge S.A. and five ongoing 
investigations in relation to matters held confidential. 

Upon completion of investigations, the Executive Director 
submits his findings (through Reports of investigations), 
pursuant to section 51(2) of the Act, to the Commissioners for 
determination of cases. 

As at 1st January 2014, there was one report pending 
determination by Commissioners and the Executive Director 
submitted four further reports during the year. In total, 
Commissioners determined four cases during the year with a 
fifth pending at 31st December 2014. It is expected that the 
investigative work of the CCM for the year 2014 will bring 
considerable consumer benefits in terms of lower prices, better 
quality and wider choice. 

INV014 – INVESTIGATION INTO THE SUPPLY OF REPLACEMENT 
AUTOMATIC ELECTRONIC IGNITION KEYS AND RELATED 
SYNCHRONIZING SERVICES BY DISTRIBUTORS OF NEW CARS

In the previous annual report, it was documented that the 
Executive Director had submitted the report on the above 
investigation to the Commissioners on 19th November 2013.

On 3rd January 2014, after having taken cognizance of the 
Executive Director’s findings and recommendations, the 
Commission issued their decision; determining that the main 
parties had not engaged into any exploitative abuse in the 
form of excessive pricing for replacement AEIKS and related 
synchronising services. The Commission also found that 
the main parties did not own the codes and thus, the non-
disclosure of codes and information related to synchronisation 

SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Media & ICT ENQ  143

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

A few international long distance 
telephone operators were allegedly 
not complying with the minimum 
termination rate set by the ICTA 
by charging lower rates to attract 
traffic away from competitors, 
a conduct that could amount to 
predatory pricing.

It was gathered that no monopoly 
situation existed in relation to the 
supply of termination services for 
international long distance calls 
and that there were at least eight 
players, which operated within 
the market.

Table 4: Overview of enquiries completed in 2014

3
  Pursuant to section 30(h) of the Act, the Executive Director may “undertake general studies on the effectiveness of competition in individual 

sectors of the economy of Mauritius”.
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process of AEIKs could not be said to have the object or effect 
of preventing, restricting, or distorting competition. Therefore, 
the Commission decided that no remedial action was required 
since there had been no breach of section 46 of the Act.

INV016 - ALLEGED ABUSE OF MONOPOLY POWER IN THE SUPPLY 
OF SECONDARY SCHOOL BOOKS

The Executive Director launched an investigation, referenced 
INV016, on 12th January 2012, into an alleged abuse of monopoly 
situation in the supply of secondary school books (“SSBs”) by 
Editions Le Printemps Ltée (“ELP”).

The investigation sought to establish whether the conduct of 
ELP was preventing, restricting, or distorting competition in 
breach of section 46(2) of the Act.

The Executive Director was concerned that ELP could be refusing 
to supply SSBs to specific bookstores and was potentially tying the 
sales of some SSBs to other SSBs, which it supplied exclusively. In 
light of information gathered and the assessment carried out, the 
Executive Director did not find any evidence to conclude that the 
main party had been engaging into the alleged types of conduct.

In the course of the investigation, the Executive Director 
also expressed concerns as to the possibility of ELP using 
its dominant position in the market for importation of SSBs 
to foreclose competitors from the market, by requesting its 
international suppliers not to supply competing importers of 
SSBs operating within Mauritius.

Although the Executive Director found that ELP had attempted 
to influence one of its international suppliers into refusing to 
supply a particular title to a competitor, the Executive Director 
however assessed that the conduct of ELP was unlikely to have 
any significant effect on the decisions of international publishers 
regarding their choice of distributors on the Mauritian market.

The Executive Director issued the report on the investigation on 
20th January 2014, stating that no breach of the Act had been 
found. However, it was recommended that an advice be issued 
to the Ministry of Education and Human Resources in relation 
to the information asymmetry that had been prevailing on the 
market for SSBs.

On 17th April 2014, the Commissioners issued their decision and 
determined that: (i) although ELP is in a monopoly situation in 
the wholesale supply of closed SSB titles exclusively distributed 
by ELP, the evidence adduced does not establish that ELP has 
engaged in tying practices; (ii) ELP does not have sufficient 
market power to coerce or influence international publishers’ 
decision to supply, or not, competing importers. Furthermore, in 
the absence of information enabling the competitive impact of 
publishing the list of SSBs in advance of the peak sales period 
for each academic year, the Commissioners declined to advise 
the Ministry of Education and Human Resources with regards to 
the information asymmetry.

INV019 - INVESTIGATION INTO THE SUPPLY OF COOLERS TO RETAILERS 
BY PHOENIX BEVERAGES LIMITED AND QUALITY BEVERAGES LIMITED

Following a report of the Executive Director recommending 
acceptance of undertakings offered by Phoenix Beverages 
Ltd to allay the concerns having arisen from INV019, the 
investigation was pursued vis-à-vis Quality Beverages Ltd. The 
Executive Director found that Quality Beverages Ltd had not 
been engaging in abusive conduct within the terms of section 
46(2) of the Act.

Whereas Quality Beverages Ltd was found to be in a monopoly 
situation in ‘the supply of coolers to traditional retail outlets of 
sizes less than 20m2 in the markets for carbonated soft drinks 
supplied chilled for immediate consumption and for still water 
supplied chilled for immediate consumption in Mauritius’, in 
terms of section 46(1)(b) of the Act, Quality Beverages Ltd did 
not, on its own, hold a position of dominance in the relevant 
market due to the presence of another significant competitor 
which provided effective competitive constraints.

The Commission endorsed the findings and recommendations 
of the Executive Director on 23rd April 2014.

INV027 – COLLUSIVE AGREEMENT IN THE BEER MARKET

The investigation was initiated in March 2014 when the 
Executive Director found reasonable grounds to believe that 
an agreement between Phoenix Beverages Ltd and the Castel 
Group/Stag Beverages Ltd was prohibited and void under 
section 41 of the Act. It was alleged that the enterprises had 
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jointly agreed to exit the markets for beer in Madagascar and 
Mauritius respectively. The Executive Director was concerned 
that such an agreement could result in the exclusive allocation 
of the beer market in Mauritius to Phoenix Beverages Ltd, in 
addition to the restriction of the supply of beer in Mauritius 
subsequent to the closing down of Stag Beverages Ltd.

Phoenix Beverages Ltd applied for leniency in exchange of 
information on cartel activity in which it was involved. As part 
of its leniency application, Phoenix Beverages Ltd submitted 
information to the CCM, which led the Executive Director to find 
a collusive agreement between Phoenix Beverages Ltd and Stag 
Beverages Ltd in breach of section 41 of the Act. 

Furthermore, Phoenix Beverages Ltd offered undertakings under 
section 63 of the Act, the main elements of which comprised of 
commitments to seek clearance prior to any increase in prices 
(not attributable to costs) for a period of 4 years, to avoid 
discontinuing commercial distribution of any brands of its beer 
for a period of 2 years without the authorization of the CCM, 
and to provide certain resellers with space in its coolers for a 
period of 2 years. 

Both Phoenix Beverages Ltd and Stag Beverages Ltd indicated 
their intention to comply with the financial and non-financial 
directions as recommended in the report on the investigation, 
albeit that the parties have not admitted liability. Both Phoenix 
Beverages Ltd and Stag Beverages Ltd also waived their right 
to a hearing before the Commissioners.
The Executive Director issued her report on the investigation on 
the 17th June 2014 wherein she established a breach of section 
41 of the Act and consequently recommended the imposition of 
financial penalties and directions.

On the 22nd August 2014, a quorum of three Commissioners 
endorsed the recommendations of the Executive Director and 
determined that there had been an agreement between Phoenix 
Beverages Ltd and Stag Beverages Ltd that had the object and/
or effect of sharing the beer market in Mauritius, and restricting 
the supply of beer in the beer market of Mauritius, in breach of 
section 41(b) of the Act. The Commission also determined that 
a provision of the agreement, in so far as it makes the exit of 
Stag Beverages Ltd from the beer market of Mauritius and the 
dismantling of the plant of Stag Beverages Ltd in Mauritius, 

a condition to the agreement, was prohibited and void under 
section 41(2) of the Act.

In light of the serious nature of the breach and that the fact 
that the agreement could have already caused significant 
harm to competition, the Commissioners, while accepting the 
leniency application of Phoenix Beverages Ltd, ordered the 
imposition of financial penalties on Phoenix Beverages Ltd, to 
the amount of MUR 20, 299, 355 (subject to Phoenix Beverages 
Ltd’s continued co-operation with the CCM and compliance with 
the undertakings offered) and on Stag Beverages Ltd, to the 
amount of MUR 6, 575, 377.

Furthermore, the Commissioners decided to accept the 
undertakings offered by Phoenix Beverages Ltd as provided 
for under section 63(4) of the Act, and imposed additional 
directions to limit communications between Stag Beverages 
Ltd and Phoenix Beverages Ltd.

REVIEW FOR 2015

ENQUIRIES

During the year 2015, a total of 69 issues were reported to the 
CCM. Following a screening process, 20 matters were referred 
for enquiry. This figure added to the 25 ongoing enquiries at 
the beginning of the period under review and brought the total 
number of enquiries handled by the CCM during 2015, to 45. The 
matters concerned related to the various sectors of the economy.
Out of the 45 enquiries carried out by the CCM during 2015, 
23 were closed due to the absence of reasonable grounds to 
believe in a likely instance of restrictive business practice and 
6 enquiries were recommended to proceed to investigation.
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ABUSE OF 
MONOPOLY

MERGER 
REVIEW

CARTEL
MARKET 
REVIEWS

Total

Number of ongoing enquiries through 1st January 2015 13 3 5 4 25

Number of new enquiries launched during 2015 9 6 3 2 20

Total number of enquiries administered during 2015 22 9 8 6 45

Number of enquiries recommending investigation 3 - 3 - 6

Number of enquiries with no reasonable grounds to further 
pursue the matter

14 5 0 4 23

Number of ongoing enquiries through 31st December 2015 5 4 5 2 16

Table 5: Enquiry review for the year 2015

Table 5 represents the figures, which pertain to enquiries administered during 2015, providing a breakdown in terms of the 
different theories that were assessed.

Table 6 below provides an overview of the enquiries completed in 2015 (with the exception of those conducted in relation to cartel 
and/or held confidential) closed with no further actions.

SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Food & 
Beverages

ENQ 119

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

It was averred that a company 
had stopped supplying fresh/
chilled seafood products to the 
complainant’s business.

The enquiry revealed that the 
company is not in a monopoly 
situation in the upstream market. 
Hence, the company’s behaviour 
is unlikely to restrict, prevent, or 
distort competition.

Banking & 
Finance

ENQ 121

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

Conduct

A major commercial bank was 
imposing a 1% rate as Early 
Repayment Fee (ERF) on outstanding 
amounts over the remaining period 
of loans subscribed by its clients. 
The alleged conduct could be 
preventing borrowers from switching 
to other banks with more attractive 
loan offers.

The Banking Act has been amended 
in 2013 to restrict the imposition 
ERF on new loans. For loans 
contracted prior to this amendment, 
the commercial bank in question 
has revised its ERF rate to a flat 
1%. With these changes, the 
alleged concern no longer existed.
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Food & 
Beverages

ENQ 132

Abuse of 
monopoly

-
Exclusionary 

conduct: Refusal 
to supply

It was averred that a large 
manufacturer of vinegar had 
stopped supplying its product to 
wholesale distributors and restricted 
its supply to only one new distributor 
in the market.   

The manufacturer could potentially 
be in a monopoly situation but did 
not appear to have market power 
in view of available and potential 
substitutes on the market through 
importation.

Construction & 
Real Estate

ENQ 133 Merger Review

This concerned the alleged 
amalgamation between two 
companies operating in the real 
estate and investment sector.

The transaction was not reviewable 
under the Act since the market 
share threshold was not met and 
the merging parties were operating 
in separate markets.

Investment ENQ 134 Merger Review

There was an alleged amalgamation 
between two investment holding 
companies.

The merging parties were already 
under common ownership and 
control prior to the merger. As such, 
the merger was not reviewable 
under the Act,

Media and ICT ENQ 135 Merger review

It was averred that there had been 
an acquisition of the assets and 
implicitly the printing business of 
a major company that went into 
liquidation, by another company in 
the commercial printing business.

The transaction was deemed not 
to be reviewable under the merger 
provisions of the Act, which does 
not cover the acquisition or sales of 
assets between enterprises.

Financial 
services

ENQ 137 Possible Advice

A complaint was to the effect that 
a bank was allegedly engaging 
in abusive conduct by favouring 
SICOM General Insurance Company 
to the detriment of other insurance 
companies. The alleged conduct 
was that the bank was tying a solar 
water heater grant to the purchase of 
insurance cover from SICOM.

A new solar water heater scheme 
was introduced which did not 
require the purchase of insurance 
cover. The alleged conduct therefore 
no longer existed and the enquiry 
was consequently closed. 

Tourism ENQ 138 Merger Review

An investment company had allegedly 
acquired a substantial shareholding 
in a hospitality company.

The transaction was not reviewable 
under the Act since the market 
share threshold was not met. 
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Agriculture ENQ 139 Possible Advice

It was averred that Government 
was restricting the choice of small 
planters for suppliers of organic 
compost through its subsidy scheme 
which was limited to only one 
supplier.

The subsidy scheme is part of 
the waste management project. 
The supplier in question is the 
only producer of compost from 
municipal waste on an industrial 
basis. No competition concern was 
therefore identified.

Logistics ENQ 141

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exploitative 
Conduct

It was averred that a port logistics 
service provider was abusing its 
monopoly situation by charging high 
rates for container handling services.

No evidence that the rates charged 
were excessive was found and the 
conduct was therefore not deemed 
as exploitative.

Media & ICT ENQ 142 Possible Advice

This concerned a Government 
decision to harmonise the antivirus 
solution with a single brand 
across the different Ministries and 
Departments, thereby potentially 
foreclosing the supply of other 
brands of antivirus.

The Government decision was in line 
with a World Bank recommendation 
for achieving cost-effectiveness in 
the use of antivirus across the public 
sector. In addition, the selection of 
single brand of antivirus, was done 
through open bidding exercise for 
bulk purchase. 

Food & 
Beverages

ENQ 144

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exclusionary 
Conduct

An upstream manufacturer of 
alcoholic products was allegedly 
supplying its own distribution 
company on better terms and 
conditions compared to independent 
wholesale distributors, potentially 
foreclosing the latter. 

There was no evidence of 
foreclosure. The terms and 
conditions of sale to independent 
distributors were similar to those of 
the manufacturer’s own distribution 
company. The independent 
wholesale distributors had the 
option to distribute other products.

Construction 
& 
Real Sector

ENQ 147

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exclusionary 
Conduct

An upstream supplier of tiles 
adhesive product allegedly refused to 
supply its product to one distributor 
operating at the intermediate level of 
the distribution chain.

The upstream supplier was 
potentially in a monopoly situation 
but no evidence of selective 
distribution agreement and as 
such, refusal to supply was found.

Financial 
Services

ENQ 148

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exclusionary 
Conduct

It was averred that there was an 
offer of preferential interest rates on 
car finance products on purchase of 
in-house motorcar insurance policy 
by one insurance company.

The insurance company was not 
found to be in dominant position 
in either the car finance market 
or comprehensive insurance for 
new cars market.  More attractive 
products were available on the 
market.
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Transport ENQ 149

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exclusionary 
Conduct

A potential predatory strategy 
through reduced/waived service 
fee by a major airline company for 
tickets bought exclusively at its 
counter coupled with lottery tickets 
offer, was alleged. The averred 
promotional offer was not extended 
to travel agents.

Promotional offers run for only two 
weeks and were unlikely to have 
had any foreclosure effects on 
travel agents. In addition, such 
airline company did not run such 
exclusive promotional campaign.

Media & ICT ENQ 150 Possible Advice

The complaint related to the ICTA’s 
new Type Approval process that 
was allegedly hindering the entry 
of certain equipment in Mauritius 
and the allegation that certain 
makes and models of laptop PCs 
and tablets were being imported 
and commercialised in Mauritius by 
some dealers without those products 
having been type approved.

The enquiry showed that certain 
aspects of the regulatory framework 
may give rise to certain competition 
concerns. However, given the 
technicality of this sector and the 
need for further assessment of 
the potential adverse effects on 
the competitiveness of the sector, 
closer engagement with ICTA was 
made and the enquiry was closed.

Food &  
Beverages

ENQ 151

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exclusionary 
Conduct

It was alleged that two of the 
suppliers of water purification 
equipment were tying the supply of 
their products to their maintenance 
services.

The two suppliers were unlikely to 
be in a monopoly situation. There 
were a number of suppliers of water 
purification equipment.

Food 
&
Beverages

ENQ 152 Merger Review

This concerned the acquisition 
of a major shareholding in a fish 
processing company.

The merging parties were found 
to have low market shares in the 
market for the supply of canned 
tuna in Mauritius, which therefore 
substantially reduced the likelihood 
of foreclosure.

Media & ICT ENQ 155
Monopoly Abuse

Exploitative 
Conduct

It was averred that an internet 
service provider was not abiding by 
undertakings that it had previously 
offered to the Commission.

The service in question, did not in 
fact fall within the ambit of the 
undertaking offered and as such, 
no issue of non-compliance arised.
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SECTOR ENQUIRY 
REFERENCE

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS 
PRACTICE

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT

Transport ENQ 156

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exploitative 
Conduct

It was averred that there had been 
a refusal by a major airline company 
to embark a parcel of frozen food 
on board on ground that its plastic 
wrapping services at the airport were 
not used.

There are mandatory safety and 
security requirements in relation 
to carriage of frozen products on 
board of aircraft, one being proper 
wrapping.  However, the wrapping 
services were not provided by the 
airline company but by a different 
company.

Media & ICT ENQ 159

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exploitative 
Conduct

A leading company in the supply 
of dermo-cosmetics products had 
allegedly concluded exclusivity 
agreements with two major radio 
stations over radio advertising of its 
products.

There were no exclusivity 
agreements between the radio 
stations and the supplier of 
dermo-cosmetics products over 
radio advertising slots. Moreover, 
these radio stations could not 
accommodate competitors in the 
same advertising slots.

Other 
Consumer 
Goods

ENQ 164

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exploitative 
Conduct

It was alleged that the only local 
supplier of plastic bottles for liquid 
detergent was delaying supply to a 
liquid detergent manufacturer but 
servicing another manufacturer on 
time, thus placing the former at a 
competitive disadvantage.

The allegation was unfounded in 
so far as the competitor of the 
complainant was not actually 
getting the bulk of its supplies from 
the plastic bottle supplier. It was 
only buying caps from the latter.

Media & ICT ENQ 165

Monopoly Abuse
-

Exploitative 
Conduct

It was averred that very small 
margins between wholesale and 
retail tariffs practiced by two mobile 
telephony operators for the offer 
of SMS services did not allow third 
parties wishing to offer competing 
retail services to enter the market.

There was a possible existence of a 
monopoly situation in the upstream 
mobile telephony market within 
Mauritius. However,  the availability 
of substitute wholesale services 
from overseas suppliers could 
defeat any strategy to squeeze 
margins of downstream competitors

Table 6: Overview of enquiries completed in 2015
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With regards to investigations, the Executive Director initiated 
six new cases, and completed two investigations. As at the end 
of 2015, there were 11 ongoing investigations and one ongoing 
market study. Matters under investigation included a potential 
breach related to the payment cards market in Mauritius, a 
proposed merger between Holcim Ltd and Lafarge S.A. and five 
ongoing investigations in relation to matters held confidential. 

During 2015, Commissioners determined two cases: the 
image-based clearing solutions provided by commercial banks 
(INV024); and the proposed merger between Holcim Ltd and 
Lafarge S.A (INV028). 

INV024 - INVESTIGATION INTO IMAGE-BASED CLEARING 
SOLUTIONS PROVIDED TO COMMERCIAL BANKS

This investigation was conducted in relation to an allegation 
that Blanche Birger Co Ltd (‘Blanche Birger’) could be engaging 
in exclusionary conduct in breach of section 46 of the Act. The 
Executive Director was concerned, in particular, that Blanche 
Birger could have been foreclosing competitors from the retail 
market for the supply of hardware components for the purpose 
of cheque truncation in Mauritius by restricting the use of the 
software it markets, namely ‘NCR Image Mark NCompass,’ 
exclusively to the scanners that it distributes. The Executive 
Director was concerned that the lack of interoperability with 
other scanners could foreclose competitors supplying other 
brands of cheque scanners. 

Following the circulation of its Statement of Issues, Blanche 
Birger expressed its willingness to offer undertakings under 
section 63 of the Act and rule 28 of the Rules of Procedure 
wherein Blanche Birger would consider requests for integration 
of non-NCR cheque scanners into the NCR software by 
uploading an ‘Application Programming Interface’ into the NCR 
software. Following an assessment of the undertakings, the 
Executive Director decided that the undertakings offered could 
satisfactorily address the competition concerns raised with 
respect to the conduct of Blanche Birger.  

INV028 – INVESTIGATION INTO THE PROPOSED MERGER 
BETWEEN HOLCIM LTD AND LAFARGE S.A

On 23rd July 2014, Holcim Ltd and Lafarge S.A filed a joint 
notification to the CCM whereby they notified the CCM of their 
proposed merger on the international front. In their notification, 
the notifying parties informed the CCM of their willingness to 
divest of their shares in Holcim (Mauritius) Ltd (now known 
as Kolos Cement Ltd) to a third party. Following a preliminary 
assessment into the matter the Executive Director decided to 
conduct an in-depth assessment of the matter in the form of 
an investigation.

The Executive Director was concerned that the merger between 
Holcim Ltd and Lafarge S.A would raise various competition 
concerns in terms of increased concentration in the upstream 
and downstream markets for supply of grey cement; concerns 
on coordination effects; and vertical concerns. It was also 
found that the divestment of the shares of the notifying parties 
in Holcim (Mauritius) Ltd would not suffice to address all of 
the above concerns. The divestment process itself may raise 
potential competition concerns. 

The notifying parties were informed of those concerns and they 
promptly offered the CCM with undertakings to address those 
concerns on the 26th January 2015, which were revised on the 
8th May 2015. The undertakings provided for that the notifying 
parties would divest of their shares in Holcim (Mauritius) Ltd 
within set timeframes to a third party subject to the approval 
of the CCM. The criteria of the purchaser were also laid in terms 
of its independence and ability to uphold competition in the 
market. The undertakings further provided for the mechanism 
to deal with the transitional period of the divestment and the 
appointment of a hold separate manager. The notifying parties 
further committed to report to the CCM on the divestment 
process; to put in place a ring fencing mechanism; not to solicit 
key personnel of the divestment business for a time period; 
not to compromise the competitive position of the divestment 
business within the divestment process;  and to provide cement 
to the divestment business on terms and conditions no less 
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favorable as those supplied to its own related downstream 
enterprise, for a transitional period in the event that the 
purchaser of the divestment is not active in the upstream 
market. 

Following an assessment of the undertakings provided by 
the notifying parties, the Executive Director of the CCM was 
satisfied that the undertakings would satisfactorily address 
the concerns of the CCM. Therefore, he issued his report on the 
undertakings to the Commission on the 13th May 2015, wherein 
he recommended the Commission to clear the merger subject 
to the undertakings. 

On the 27th May 2015 the Commission issued their decision on 
the matter wherein they cleared the proposed merger subject to 
the undertakings of Holcim Ltd and Lafarge S.A.

Assessment of Purchaser

Following the merger of Holcim Ltd and Lafarge S.A and 
pursuant to their Undertakings as accepted by the Commission, 
LafargeHolcim Ltd (the merged entity), on the 6th August 2015, 
proposed to dispose of its shares, held directly or indirectly, 
in Kolos Cement Ltd to Gamma-Civic Ltd (the ‘proposed 
divestment’), and requested the approval of the CCM to effect 
the transaction. Consequently, the Executive Director started 
an assessment into the proposed divestment in view of 
ascertaining whether the proposed divestment may be cleared. 
Gamma-Civic Ltd, was already a shareholder of Kolos Cement 
Ltd.

During the course of the assessment, the Executive Director 
expressed some potential concerns with regards to the 
proposed divestment. The potential concerns related mainly 
to potential foreclosure of competitors of Gamma-Civic Ltd, 
competition in the market for sourcing of cement and the ability 
of Gamma-Civic Ltd to maintain the viability, sustainability 
and competitiveness of Kolos Cement Ltd. Subsequently, on 
the 6th October 2015, Gamma-Civic Ltd offered Undertakings 
to the CCM under section 63 of the Act to address the potential 
concerns of the CCM.

Following an assessment of the undertakings of Gamma-Civic 
Ltd, the Executive Director concluded that:

(a) The Undertakings provided that Gamma-Civic Ltd will 
take all necessary steps to ensure the viability, sustainability 
and competitiveness of Kolos Cement Ltd; and provided 
for a monitoring process by the CCM. The Executive Director 
was therefore of the opinion that the risks and uncertainty 
with regards to the ability of Gamma-Civic Ltd to uphold the 
competitive position of Kolos Cement Ltd was satisfactorily 
addressed.

(b) Through the commitment of Gamma-Civic Ltd to put in 
place a competitive bidding exercise in Kolos Cement Ltd, and 
to seek the approval of the CCM where LafargeHolcim Ltd is 
selected as a bidder, the Executive Director was satisfied that 
competition in the upstream market for the sourcing of cement 
will be maintained.

(c) Gamma-Civic Ltd has also undertaken that it will not 
discriminate against its rivals with regards to the price of 
cement, the supply of cement and the terms and conditions of 
supply of cement. The Executive Director was satisfied that this 
undertaking will address the foreclosure concerns in relation 
to the downstream markets where grey cement is used as an 
input.

The Executive Director was satisfied that the undertakings 
of Gamma-Civic Ltd would satisfactorily address all the 
concerns of the CCM and that through the divestment, the 
state of competition in the cement market in Mauritius would 
be maintained. Therefore, the Executive Director submitted 
his report on the matter to the Commission based on the 
undertakings of Gamma-Civic Ltd wherein he recommended 
to approve the divestment subject to the undertakings. On 
the 8th December 2015, the Commission cleared the proposed 
divestment of the shares held by LafargeHolcim Ltd in Kolos 
Cement Ltd to Gamma-Civic Ltd subject to the undertakings of 
Gamma-Civic Ltd. 
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Building a resilient competition culture cannot only be founded 
on effective competition enforcement because the enforcement 
stage often emanates when harm has already been perpetrated 
against the market and the economy.  The competition 
culture edifice requires a cementation process, which can be 
supported using competition advocacy as a multifaceted tool.  
Competition advocacy may help to reinforce the status, value 
and the benefits of a competitive environment and the CCM’s 
efforts in this sense have certainly earned it a respectable and 
respected position within regional and international fora:  as 
vice-chair of the African Competition Network since September 
2014 and as co-Chair of the ICN Advocacy Working Group, the 
CCM has certainly not delayed in translating its commitments 
to action.

On a different note, competition advocacy may also serve as 
the beneficial link that bridges the gap between a competition 
authority and relevant stakeholders in the market. Sparking more 
interest from policymakers on the relevance of competition law 
and policy, prompting voluntary compliance from businesses 
and gaining more support from the different spheres of the 
public in general through advocacy remain decisive features 
in promoting smart competition regulation. The period under 
review saw the CCM marking a number of milestones both 
within and across borders:

AFRICAN COMPETITION FORUM WORKSHOP ON ‘INVESTIGATING 
SUSPECTED VIOLATIONS OF COMPETITION LAW’, 28 – 29 MAY 2014

Faithful to its commitment of promoting multi-stakeholder 
competition advocacy, the CCM had partnered with the African 
Competition Forum (ACF) and the United States’ Federal Trade 
Commission in exposing the complexities of competition 
assessments and investigative techniques during a two-day 
think-tank held on the 28th and 29th May 2014 at the Hennessy 
Park Hotel, Ebène.

Gathering competition agency officials from 11 African countries 
as well as representatives of national sector regulators, Ministry 
officials and independent law firms around break-out sessions 
and case-studies, the ACF Workshop provided a platform 
par excellence for guiding the thinking process towards the 

exchange and adoption of best-practices in investigations and 
assessments for effective competition enforcement.

Such seminars created opportunities through cross-border 
cooperative linkages with neighbouring ‘competition peers’ 
and extend the CCM’s reach towards sector regulators and 
relevant stakeholders in furthering their understanding of 
the competition enforcement arena, while enhancing their 
knowledge and competence towards developing transportable 
investigative skills for the benefit of their own institutions.

ADVOCACY TO LOCAL AUTHORITIES & RODRIGUES REGIONAL 
ASSEMBLY, JUNE 2014 – OCTOBER 2014
  
Over the period beginning June 2014 to October 2014, the CCM 
had embarked on a competition awareness program; engaging 
village, district and municipal councillors as well as the 
Rodrigues Regional Assembly over the benefits to be derived in 
fostering transparency and competition principles in decision-
making. 

OUTREACH INITIATIVES
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In their role as administrative bodies, local authorities are 
mandated to devise and implement wide-ranging policies. 
Competition law and policy can and should work to ensure 
that such policies do not have anti-competitive effects. Even a 
small pro-competitive change can translate into large gains for 
consumers in the form of lower prices and improved economic 
outcomes in respect of services procured by Local Authorities to 
consumers.

CCM NATIONAL CONTEST FOR STUDENTS, FEBRUARY 2014 - 
SEPTEMBER 2014

The first edition of the CCM’s National Contest for Students, 
which went live in February 2014, laid the stepping stone towards 
instilling the competition spirit right at the beginning of youngsters’ 
professional journey. 

This event engaged secondary and tertiary levels’ students in the joint 
effort of a team which was required to compound research, creativity 
and originality through a written essay on ‘The benefits of Competition 
to the Economy’ and subsequently, to convince the jury on their ideas 
via a viva voce presentation.

Out of the 42 entries initially received, 12 proceeded to 
the second round of viva voce presentations. A panel of 
4 jury members comprising of:  Mr. Sanjeev Ghurburrun, 
Director, Geroudis Law Firm; Ms. Brinda Dabysing, 
Private Sector Development Specialist, World Bank,  
Mr. Barlen Pillay, Manager Legal & Business Facilitation 
Division - Mauritius Chamber of Commerce and Industry and 
Dr Vishal Ragoobur, Senior Economist - Mauritius Employers’ 
Federation shouldered the responsibility of selecting 4 winning 
teams out of the 12 semi-finalists.

The CCM National Contest for Students’ Award Giving Ceremony 
was held on the 8th September 2014. The ‘Charles Telfair 
Institute’ and the ‘Dr Maurice Cure State Secondary School’ were 
proclaimed the winning teams of the 2014 edition receiving 
the First Prize for University and Secondary School Categories 
respectively. The Second Prize for Secondary School Category 
was awarded to Sodnac SSS (Girls Side) while Forest-Side SSS 
(Girls) was designated to receive the ‘Special Jury Award for 
Best Presentation Skills’.

CCM FIFTH ANNUAL CONFERENCE, 05 NOVEMBER 2014

The CCM’s fifth Annual Conference had a unique appeal with 
the presence of the President of the French Autorité de la 
Concurrence, Mr Bruno Laserre, as the keynote speaker; public 
sector stakeholders; partners from all spheres of the Mauritian 
economy; fellow enforcers of neighbouring competition 
agencies; and competition experts across all continents.

On the eve of the official opening of the 3rd International 
Competition Network’s Advocacy Workshop hosted for the first 
time in Mauritius, the CCM’s fifth Annual Conference provided an 
ideal opportunity to review the first five years of the institution’s 
enforcement and advocacy efforts, through the pages of the 
CCM’s commemorative magazine, which was officially launched 
during the Conference. Through the publication, participants 
were able to rediscover the work accomplished by the CCM, the 
legal developments having shaped the operational framework 
supporting the CCM’s endeavours, as well as the views and 
comments featured in the generous contributions of some of 
the foremost international competition experts.
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As remarked by Mr Bruno Laserre:  
“(…) [W]e all experience very different institutional 
regimes, and … each of our agencies adapts its tools 
to its domestic constitutional and legal framework. 
Notwithstanding the existing constraints and specificities 
that agencies can face, it is our responsibility to ensure 
recognition of our unique expertise and find effective ways 
to bring our message across in order to create a culture of 
competition4 ”.

INTERNATIONAL COMPETITION NETWORK ADVOCACY WORKSHOP, 
06 – 07 NOVEMBER 2014

Following the footsteps of the Autorité de la Concurrence 
(France) and the Italian Competition Authority, the CCM, in its 
capacity as Co-Chair of the ‘International Competition Network 
Advocacy Working Group’ (ICN AWG), hosted the third edition of 
the ICN AWG Workshop on the 6th and 7th November 2014 at the 
InterContinental Resort, Balaclava.

By promoting dynamic dialogue amidst its impressive network 
of 122 Member agencies, the ICN is a leading vehicle to build 
consensus around sound competition policy principles and 
drive cooperation across the global antitrust community. 

Faithful to its commitment to keep abreast of member agencies’ 
needs, this year’s ICN AWG theme “Advocacy: Foundations, 
Strategies and Assessment” emphasised the critical legitimacy 
of competition advocacy in prying open markets. Throughout 
the two days’ Workshop, the participants (mainly, heads and 

senior officials of competition agencies, representatives of 
international non-governmental Organisations and consumer 
organisations) had the opportunity to reflect on the practical 
issues, challenges, and best practices of the competition 
advocacy functions; to engage in the exchange of successful 
advocacy stories with global competition experts; while, 
aiding the international competition enforcement community 
towards shaping effective advocacy strategies for the benefit 
of individual agencies. 

The results of the ‘Competition Culture Project’, an ICN research-
project led and chaired by the CCM since March 2013, were also 
presented during the Workshop. The project is intended to serve 
as a guiding document for improving effective and optimal 
member agencies’ interactions with different stakeholders.

CONTRIBUTION FOR THE UNCTAD FOURTEENTH SESSION OF THE 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL GROUP OF EXPERTS ON COMPETITION 
LAW AND POLICY, JULY 2014

Alongside Egypt, Latvia, Malaysia, Peru, the Russian Federation 
and Spain, the CCM has had the opportunity of presenting 
its written contribution on ‘Communication strategies of 
competition authorities as a tool for agency effectiveness at the 
Fourteenth Roundtable Session of the Intergovernmental Group 
of Experts (IGE) on Competition Law and Policy which was held 
in Geneva, Switzerland between 8th and 10th July 2014.

The CCM placed much emphasis on the communication 
mechanisms adopted in respect of advocating the operational 
aspects of its enforcement and advocacy works to the various 
stakeholder groups constituting the economic fabric of the 
Mauritian economy (from media advocacy, E-advocacy, 
business advocacy, and consumer advocacy). 

ANTITRUST IN EMERGING AND DEVELOPING COUNTRIES, NEW 
YORK – OCTOBER, 24TH 2014

The inaugural conference on “Antitrust in Emerging and 
Developing Countries” organized by Concurrences Journal 
in partnership with the New York University School of Law 

4
 Extract of Mr Bruno Laserre’s written contribution in CCM Magazine ‘Fifth Anniversary of the CCM’ (2014), p.42
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(NYU), was centered around the main objective of encouraging 
participants to revisit competition law and policy through the 
lens of developing countries.

The Executive Director was invited to serve as panel member, 
alongside Ms Eleanor Fox (moderator) and senior officials of the 
Directorate General, Competition at the European Commission 
and the U.S. Federal Trade Commission. The panel session 
explored coordination and cooperation between competition 
agencies in developed and developing countries, and among 
competition agencies in developing countries. A paper entitled 
‘International Competition on Competition Matters: An 
Emerging Enforcer’s perspective5 was also presented during the 
Conference on behalf of the CCM. The paper was also featured 
in the Concurrences Journal, an online quarterly peer-reviewed 
journal dedicated to EU and national competitions laws. 

In the week leading up to the Concurrences Journal – NYU 
Conference, the Executive Director was also invited by the 
NYU to share a developing country enforcer’s experience 
and perspectives on the ‘Institutional set up of Competition 
Agencies and competition law in small economies’. 

CONTRIBUTION IN ‘THE AFRICAN AND MIDDLE EASTERN REVIEW’ – 
GLOBAL COMPETITION REVIEW

One of the four annual regional reviews of the Global Competition 
Review publications, the ‘African and Middle Eastern Review’ 
delivers the latest of expert-written specialist intelligence, 
research and competition developments within the African 
and Middle Eastern region to help competition professionals 
navigate the complex legal and enforcement regimes across 
the growing web of competition jurisdictions.

The Executive Director was invited to contribute in the third 
edition of the ‘African and Middle Eastern Review’. The article 
broadly covered such features as the CCM’s competition and 
enforcement regime, an overview of the various on-the-ground 
activities undertaken as part of the CCM’s advocacy functions 

in 2014 as well as the CCM’s projected focus for the period 
2014 – 2016.

CONTRIBUTION IN ‘THE CARTELS AND LENIENCY LAW REVIEW’ 

A reference of knowledge and guidance to competition 
practitioners and academics, ‘The Cartels and Leniency Law 
Review’ seeks to provide coverage of the legal and enforcement 
practices of local competition authorities as regards cartel 
conduct. The third edition of The Cartels and Leniency Law 
Review featured, for the first time, an excerpt on the Mauritian 
anti-cartel legislative framework and provided much insight 
into associated topical competition issues as: ‘enforcement 
policies and guidance’, ‘cooperation with other jurisdictions’, 
‘jurisdictional limitations, defences and exemptions’, ‘exercise 
of dawn raid powers’, ‘leniency programs’, and ‘penalties’.

MIOD WORKSHOP - JULY 15

Given the ever increasing importance for directors and senior 
managers to understand their duties regarding the elements 
of the Competition Law, the Mauritius Institute of Directors’ 
(MIOD) hosted a workshop on 23rd July 2015 for the benefit 
of its members on the theme “Legal Insights - Competition 
Law”, at the Hennessy Park Hotel. The workshop aimed to give 
an overview of the Competition Law and its importance, anti-
competitive agreements and monopoly situations, as well as 
the different current COMESA Competition regulations. Invited 
as guest speaker, the Executive Director’s intervention was 
axed on two key themes of competition law and policy, namely, 
the acceleration of competition regulation on the global scene 
and the nature and impact of competition law enforcement in 
Mauritius.

5
    ‘International Competition on Competition Matters: An Emerging Enforcer’s perspective’ (27 October 2014) < http://www.ccm.mu/English/

Advice-Studies-Research/Pages/Other-Research-and-Publications.aspx >.  The Paper also featured in the Concurrences Journal, an 
online quarterly peer-reviewed journal dedicated to EU and national competitions laws.         
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The CCM’s resolve towards capacity building remained 
unflinching during the years 2014 and 2015. The CCM believes 
that for it to effectively achieve its mission and its mandate 
under the Act, investment in terms of capacity building is 
paramount. Staff of the CCM have benefitted from various local 
and overseas trainings in view of enhancing their capabilities. 
Such capacity building endeavours allow the staff to get 
international exposure, gather invaluable knowledge from 
experts in the field and keep abreast of the latest developments 
in matters relating to competition law and economics.

In February 2014, one of the CCM’s Commissioners, the 
Executive Director and an Investigator attended the 13th edition 
of the OECD Global Forum on Competition (GFC) which was 
held in Paris on the 27th and 28th February 2014. Competition 
officials from all continents met to share their experience 
and views on issues of competition law. The Forum explored 
the policy linkages between fighting corruption and promoting 
competition as well as competition issues in the distribution of 
pharmaceuticals. 
 
The United States Federal Trade Commission, the United States 
Department of Justice, and the Competition Commission of 
South Africa, with funding provided by the United States Agency 
for International Development, conducted a series of Regional 
Workshops on ‘Unilateral Conduct Assessment’, ‘Practical 
Skills for Planning and Conducting Investigations’ and 
evidence handling in February and July 2014 and February and 
September 2015 respectively. Each of those workshops were 
attended by two of CCM’s investigative staff who were deputed 
to attend the workshops held in Pretoria, South Africa, on 
behalf of the CCM. The objective was to develop case handlers’ 
practical and substantive skills for analysing unilateral 
conduct.  The Workshop on Practical Skills for Planning and 
Conducting Investigations dealt with the importance of 
employing investigative tools such as the preparation of written 
investigation plans and proof charts during the early phases of 
an investigation.

In March 2014, the Executive Director was invited by the 
Competition Authority of Botswana to share experience on the 

importance of Competition Law and Policy during the 3rd Annual 
National Stakeholders Competition Conference. 

In April 2014, one investigative staff attended the ICN 
Roundtable on Investigative Process and the 62nd Antitrust 
Spring Meeting American Bar Association (ABA) held in 
Washington DC, USA. The ICN Roundtable on Investigative 
Process explored best practices of investigative processes 
that facilitate effective engagement and interaction between 
agencies and parties. The ABA Antitrust Spring Meeting is a 
premier meeting of antitrust practitioners worldwide whereby 
the latest developments in the field of antitrust are discussed 
and debated. The meeting is attended by law practitioners from 
around the world, including over 600 government enforcers and 
practitioners from 60 countries outside the United States. 

As part of its statutory function of disseminating information 
about competition policy, the COMESA Competition Commission 
(CCC) had, on four different occasions, invited competition 
officials, and ministerial officials from all the COMESA Member 
States to discuss and share views and experience on relevant 
regional competition issues. The CCM was represented during 
all four Workshops.

	 •	 	In	 April	 2014,	 the	 CCC	 in	 collaboration	 with	 the	
International Finance Corporation (‘IFC’) (a Member 
of the World Bank Group), had organised a two-day 
workshop in South Africa to update participants on 
the proposed amendments to the COMESA Merger 
Control provisions and draft Merger Guidelines in 
view of aligning them to international best practices. 
The session also allowed participants to engage the 
IFC consultants on practical questions, share their 
views on the proposed changes to the COMESA merger 
control regime and recommend proposals for further 
consideration. 

	 •	 	In	 July	2014,	a	Regional	Validation	Workshop	for	 the	
‘Draft Guideline on the Implementation of the Merger 
Control Provisions’ (under the COMESA Competition 
Regulations and the COMESA Competition Rules) 
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was organised in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia to enable the 
COMESA Member States and other Competition Law 
experts and practitioners to make final inputs into the 
review process.

	 •	 	In	November	2014,	the	CCC,	in	collaboration	with	the	
IFC organised a two-day seminar in Nairobi, Kenya, the 
main objectives of which were to raise awareness on 
the COMESA Merger Assessment Guidelines, deliver 
training on merger control, and provide a forum for 
Member States to discuss and provide feedback on 
the draft COMESA Merger Control Regulations.  As 
part of the training session, participants were also 
exposed to a role-play exercise, which provided them 
with insights into the various commercial, economic, 
legal, and policy complexities that may arise during a 
merger review exercise by a competition authority.

	 •	 	In	 September	 2015,	 a	 two-day	 workshop	 was	
organised by the CCC in Cairo, Egypt. As part of 
the training workshop, participants were exposed 
to the applicability of COMESA Merger Regulations 
and Guidelines, including definition of merger, 
notifiability and concept of regional dimension; and 
assessment guidelines. The training sessions were 
complemented with role-plays from actual merger 
decisions, highlighting relevant merger control issues. 
The training was delivered by CC staff members and 
resource person from the European Union (EU) to 
provide for EU perspective of cross border merger 
control.

The ICN Annual Conference which was held in Marrakech, 
Morocco in April 2014 was attended by two CCM Senior 
Officials. This annual event provides a platform for agency 
officials to meet and discuss matters of common interest 
concerning competition law. In the framework of the 13th Annual 
Conference of the ICN, the World Bank Group also organized a 
Pre-ICN Forum on April 22nd in collaboration with the ACF and 
the Regional Competition Center for Latin America. The theme 
of the Pre-ICN event was “Competitive domestic markets: the 
cornerstone to boost trade and competitiveness”.

In June 2014, one Investigator participated in a Bid Rigging 
Workshop organised by the ACF in Tunisia. Discussions focused 
upon crucial elements such as detection and prevention 
mechanisms, designing effective procurement process for 
reducing risks of bid rigging, among others.

The Mauritian Computer Emergency Response Team, a division 
of the National Computer Board operating under the aegis 
of Ministry of Information and Communication Technology 
ran two training programmes: ‘Certified Network Security 
Manager Course (CNSM)’ and ‘Digital Forensics Investigation 
Professional (DFIP)’ from the 23rd to 25th June 2014 and 1st to 
5th December 2014 respectively. The courses aimed at providing 
information technology and information security professionals 
with specialised training on digital forensic processes.  The 
CCM’s I.T. Manager, upon successful completion of the 
qualifying exam, was awarded the Professional Certificate 
in “Digital Forensics Investigation Professional” from the 
Information Security & Digital Forensics Research Foundation 
(ISDFRF), USA.

The Chairperson attended the 14th session of the 
Intergovernmental Group of Experts on Competition Law and 
Policy hosted by the UNCTAD in Geneva in July 2014, with a 
view to discussing ways of improving worldwide cooperation on 
competition policy implementation and enhancing convergence 
through dialogue.

The Mauritius Institute of Directors (MIoD) organised a working 
session on the 20th August 2014 on “The Company Secretary: A 
catalyst for Governance & Compliance”. During this session, the 
practical aspect of the concept of governance as comprising of 
Transparency, Accountability, Fairness, and Responsibility were 
each explained and the expected role of the Secretary in each 
of these were illustrated. The CCM’s Assistant to the Executive 
Director and the Commissioners, participated in this working 
session.

The ACF held its bi-annual conference in Johannesburg, South 
Africa on 3rd September 2014. The ACF Bi-Annual Conference 
falls within the ACF programme of work for 2014/15, and 
targets heads of Competition Agencies. The Executive Director 
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attended the conference on behalf of CCM. The bi-annual 
conference enables ACF Members to adopt the strategy of the 
ACF, set the agenda of ACF activities for the following year, 
and receive, engage with and adopt the reports of the Steering 
Committee regarding the activities of the ACF as well as the 
budget and financial reports of the ACF.

In October 2014, the CCM’s Legal Executive attended the ICN 
Cartel Workshop held in Taipei, Taiwan. During the three-
day Workshop, discussions focused on strategies to enhance 
international cooperation and the sharing of best practices in 
the fight against cartels. Other topics for discussion included 
practical steps to improve cooperation; best practices with 
regard to waivers; fine determination; analytical tools for 
detecting cartels; a real-life case example of international 
cooperation in anti-cartel enforcement; and information 
sharing in cartel investigations.

In October 2014, the Manager Corporate Services attended 
a specialised four days’ training program on “International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS)” in Dubai, UAE. 
IPSASs are a set of accounting standards issued for use by 
public sector and non-profit entities around the world in the 
preparation of financial statements and the training had been 
designed for accountants and finance staff applying such 
standards in their organisation. The training program covered 
the relevant standards and specifically explained the financial 
reporting context for public sector entities and the requirements 
of IPSAS for financial statements.

The Executive Director attended a one-day conference organised 
by New York University School of Law and Concurrences 
Competition Law Journal, held in New York, USA. The theme of the 
conference was antitrust in emerging and developing countries. 
The conference addressed the coming of age of developing 
countries’ competition law systems, and its implications in law, 
policy and on-the-ground reality for entrepreneurs, consumers, 
the citizens of those countries, and the world.

The 2014 ICN Merger Workshop, to which the Executive Director 
had participated, was hosted by the Competition Commission 
of India under ICN auspices. During the two-day Workshop, 

discussions focused on the role of international cooperation in 
merger enforcement. The participants took stock of the existing 
mechanism for international cooperation between competition 
agencies in merger enforcement and focused on building an 
effective framework for international cooperation in the areas 
of merger remedies, and outreach initiatives in the context of 
merger control. 

The Competition Authority of Austria in collaboration with the 
European Union and the European Parliament organized a 
Competition Conference in Vienna, Austria on the 11th and 12th 

December 2014 themed on ‘Best Practices in Investigations’. 
Three CCM’s staff had the opportunity to participate in this 
international gathering of competition enforcers. Presenters 
explored the best practices in investigative interviews, the 
use of forensic science and its legal boundaries, settlements 
in cartel cases, and debated the legal issues surrounding 
decision-making powers of national competition authorities 
versus due process and defence rights and the need for 
appropriate institutional design and independence of 
competition authorities. 

The Government of India had, through the ‘Institute for Technical 
and Economic Cooperation Programme’, invited officials of 
competition authorities/relevant ministries from developing 
countries in Africa to participate in a two-week ‘Special Course 
on Competition Law and Policy’ from 16th February - 1st March 
2015. One officer from the State Law Office and one from the 
CCM attended the training, which provided participants with 
a refresher course on the essential economics theories and 
practical assessments underlying the main types of restrictive 
business practices. It also introduced participants to key 
provisions of the Indian competition law & policy regimes and 
key competition cases, which have had significant impact in 
the Indian economy.  

In July 2015, the Japan Fair Trade Commission (JFTC) and the 
United Nations Conference on Trade Development (UNCTAD) 
jointly held a workshop on investigative tools for case handlers 
of African competition agencies in Geneva. Two officers from 
CCM attended the workshop which focused on practical 
investigation techniques for anti-competitive conduct and the 
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JFTC shared its more than 60 years’ experience in this area of 
law enforcement with over ten African countries. The areas of 
training which were covered included planning of investigations, 
preparation and conduct of dawn raids, processing of electronic 
evidence as well as guidelines on interview techniques.

The Executive Director attended the 7th UNCTAD’s United Nations 
Conference to review all aspects of the Set of Multilaterally 
Agreed Equitable Principles and Rules for the Control of 
Restrictive Business Practices held in Geneva, between 6-10 
July 2015. The meeting provided an opportunity for ministers 
and head of competition agencies to discuss competition issues 
at the national and international levels, including through 
existing networks of competition authorities, and to promote 
the use of competition law and policy as tools for economic 
growth and competitiveness. 

The Executive Director further attended, from 28th to 29th July 
2015, the meeting on SADC Competition Committee on Regional 
Trade Agreements coupled with the African Competition Forum 
Steering Committee meeting.  

The ICN Merger Workshop, held in Brussels, Belgium, in 
September 2015 was attended by two Executives of the CCM. 
This annual workshop, attended by around 250 participants 
worldwide, explored issues around remedies in merger cases, 
choosing suitable purchasers of divested assets, cooperation in 
international merger enforcement and investigative techniques 
in merger cases. 

The OECD 14th Global Forum on Competition was held in 
Paris, France on 29-30 October 2015 and was attended by the 
Executive Director. Focus was on the sectors that are prone to 
endemic collusion and there were discussions on disruptive 
innovations. The Forum was preceded by a meeting of the ACF 
on building agency effectiveness, which the Executive Director 
also attended. 

The Chairperson of the CCM attended the 4th Lisbon Conference 
on Competition Law and Economics held in Lisbon, Portugal 
from 22nd to 23rd October 2015. The principle issues discussed 
at the meeting were (i) leniency, (ii) restrictions by object or 

effect, (iii) Disruptive innovations (iv) Public Procurement (v) 
building a common competition language. 

The Executive Director, together with one Commissioner attended 
the 4th BRICS International Competition Conference on 12 and 
13 November 2015 in Durban with the theme “Competition and 
Inclusive Growth.” The conference was preceded by a workshop 
on competition and economics jointly hosted by the CCSA, 
CRESSE and the University of KwaZulu Natal and the CCSA’s 9th 
Annual Competition Conference, with the theme “Competition 
policy and enforcement in BRICS countries” 

The 6th Meeting of the SADC Competition and Consumer Law 
and Policy Committee was held in Gaborone, Bostwana, and 
was attended by the Executive Director. The discussions that 
were held focused on how competition policy could support 
industrialisation in the SADC region. Tripartite negotiations 
were also held on competition and consumer policy and 
recommendations were put forward that the thrust of the 
competition policy programme in 2016/17 should focus on how 
issues within these areas should be addressed.

CAPACITY BUILDING (Contd.) 

AnnuAl RepoRt 2014 & 2015   35



STRATEGIC 
DIRECTIONS
2016-2019



This section presents CCM’s strategic plan for the period 
2016 to 2019. It sets out CCM’s medium-term objectives 
and ways and means adopted to achieve them, to make 
the Mauritian businesses more competitive for the benefit 
of consumers, businesses, and the economy.

Solid Enforcement Activity

As a law enforcement agency mandated to investigate 
restrictive business practices, enforcement actions are 
the core activity of the CCM. As such, they remain at 
the heart of the strategic plan. The CCM will continue to 
promote competition by enforcing the Competition Act in 
the interests of consumers, businesses and the Mauritian 
economy.
 
The level of investigative activity of the CCM will be 
sustained over the long-term, yielding consumer benefits 
well in excess of the costs of the organisation, and it will 
continue to advise Government on competition matters 
to reinforce the pro-business environment and create a 
more efficient economy. Investigations will be carried out 
indiscriminately into activities of both key and seemingly 
less important businesses and economic activities. 

The CCM plans to organise itself into specialised teams, 
specialised in the different types of restrictive business 
practices, which are mergers, monopolies and, in particular 
cartels (collusive agreements), which may cause greater 
harm to the Mauritian economy and consumers. 

The aim of having departments specialised in each 
of these anti-competitive behaviours is to be able to 
better build the technical capacity of CCM’s staff and 
consequently harness such capacity in terms of delivery, 
by producing more in-depth analysis on the different 
restrictive business practices identified and to bring 
better efficiency.

Further, the CCM believes that this will better equip the 
CCM to tackle restrictive business practices, as there 
will be more accountability by the teams, who will have 

to come up with concrete measures on how they believe 
output of their respective departments could be improved.

A cartel is the hard-core of all restrictive business 
practices and less easy to crack down. The creation 
of a cartel team will help staff develop the necessary 
competencies and skills necessary to investigate them. In 
addition, guidelines on leniency will be reinforced in order 
to facilitate detection of cartels. 

The CCM also plans to create an Intelligence Unit, which 
is instrumental in the conduct of market study to gather 
data on the markets trends and issues; and assist other 
sections in better delivering their respective investigative 
duties.  

Educating and Advocating Competition 

One of the mandates of the Executive Director under the 
Competition Act is to promote the provisions of the Act and 
the activities of the Commission. The CCM recognizes that 
advocacy is an important tool to inculcate a competition 
culture amongst businesses in Mauritius and therefore, 
since its inception, the CCM has endeavoured through 
various means to disseminate the work of the CCM. These 
have ranged from targeted workshops to the use of mass 
media. 

CCM believes that its advocacy activities should be an 
ongoing exercise. Therefore, the CCM will develop yearly 
advocacy plans that would target all stakeholders, from 
the large businesses to the Small and Medium Enterprises 
(SMEs), students and the public in general. It will include, 
among others:

•	 	workshops	to	raise	awareness	amongst	SMEs	-	since	
SMEs are vulnerable vis-à-vis bigger enterprises, 
such workshops will aim to make them aware about 
the Competition Act and the different Restrictive 
Business Practices and how they can detect them and 
subsequently inform the CCM of any abuses; 
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•	 	essay	 competitions	 for	 students	 -	 building	 on	 the	
success of a previous essay competition and in an 
attempt to raise awareness on competition matters 
at an early age, the CCM will seek to inculcate 
a competition culture amongst the youth of the 
country, which will enable them to intuitively identify 
competition problems, as and when they see them 
happening; 

•	 	reaching	 out	 to	 the	 government	 and	 governmental	
bodies with the view to raising awareness on the 
benefits of competition law and policy; and

•	 	reaching	out	to	Associations	of	enterprises	to	educate	
them on the ill effects of collusion and how their 
actions, even if legitimate, may sometimes breach the 
provisions of the competition Act. 

Various advocacy tools will be used, including, among 
others:

•	 workshops;
•	 TV	and	radio	debates;
•	 talks	at	universities;
•	 mass	media	communication	radio	and	TV	clips;
•	 billboard	campaigns,	flyers	and	leaflets,	etc.

International Cooperation 

The Executive Director is entrusted, under section 30 (i) 
of the Competition Act 2007, with the function of liaising 
and exchanging information, knowledge and expertise 
with competition authorities in other countries entrusted 
with functions similar to those of the Commission. In 
this regards, the CCM has endeavoured to sign MoUs 
with various competition authorities around the globe. 
So far, the CCM has signed MoUs with the Autorité 
de la concurrence of France and the Seychelles Fair 
Trading Commission. The CCM also has cordial working 
relationships with the Competition Commission of South 
Africa and various other competition authorities.

Going forward, the CCM will seek to formalize its relationship 
with agencies like the Competition Commission of 
Singapore and the Competition Commission of South 
Africa and other like agencies. The CCM will seek, through 
those bilateral agreements to:

•	 	exchange	views	and	experience	on	competition	policy	
issues;

•	 expand	expertise	in	the	field	of	case	investigations;
•	 	notify	each	other	of	enforcement	matters	of	common	

interest;
•	 	exchange	of	staff	through	secondments	for	the	purpose	

of improving skills; etc.

The CCM will also seek to strengthen international 
relationships through forums like the COMESA, African 
Competition Forum (ACF), and International Competition 
Network (ICN).

Regulatory Framework Review

The Competition Commission has been enforcing the 
Competition Act since November 2009. Over nearly six 
years of competition enforcement, the CCM has been 
able to gauge the effectiveness of the provisions of the 
Competition Act and to identify its potential shortcomings 
and areas that need reinforcement. In an attempt to 
remedy those shortcomings and in order to be in line 
with international good practices and other regional 
commitments, the CCM will seek to undertake a thorough 
review of the Competition Act, its Rules of Procedure and 
various guidelines. 

Such review will be aimed at making the Competition Act 
more efficient and better equipped to tackle restrictive 
business practices. Due regards will be given to 
international developments in competition law and at the 
same time, the specificities of small economies will be 
taken into account. 
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Building Capacities

The key to success lies in the capacity building of CCM’s 
staff and commissioners. The need to build in-house 
expertise and provide staff with specialised training will 
be a necessity as the CCM envisages the establishment 
of specialised departments, like cartel, merger, monopoly, 
and intelligence. The CCM will invest in developing such 
skills as are necessary for staff to investigate each type 
of restrictive business practices effectively, as well as for 
commissioners in the discharge of their function to issue 
decisions. Training will be in the form of:

•	 	in-house	 training	 by	 experts	 in	 the	 several	 fields	 of	
competition economics and law;

•	 	attendance	 to	 overseas	 workshop	 and	 institutes,	
expert in competition;

 

•	 	secondments	 to	 more	 experienced	 competition	
authorities, such as the Competition Commission of 
South Africa, which has a solid record in tracking down 
cartels;

•	 	attendance	by	 commissioners	 to	hearing	sessions	of	
other competition authorities;

•	 	sponsorships	of	post	graduate	diplomas	in	competition	
economics and law; 

•	 other	soft	skills	capacities.	
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2014

31 Dec 2014 31 Dec 2013

Note Rs. Rs.

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4  10,908,040  7,887,195 

Short-Term staff car loan receivable 5  665,400  -   

Receivables  240,694  287,258 

Prepayments  164,168  306,842 

Inventories 6  486,367  514,970 

 12,464,669  8,996,264 

Non-current assets

Long-Term staff car loan receivable 5  4,065,107  -   

Infrastructure, plant and equipment 7  2,838,683  3,118,768 

Intangible assets 8  285,223  491,543 

Retirement benefits obligations 12  2,290,806  1,812,193 

 9,479,820  5,422,504 

TOTAL ASSETS  21,944,489  14,418,768 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 9  1,053,756  474,241 

Employee obligations 11  1,552,033  1,991,608 

Short-Term staff car loan payable 5  665,400  -   

Deferred income 10  1,001,980  974,468 

 4,273,169  3,440,317 

Non-current liabilities 

Employee obligations 11  3,165,444  2,489,434 

Long-Term staff car loan payable 5  4,065,107  -   

Deferred income 10  2,121,928  2,635,842 

 9,352,478  5,125,276 

Total Liabilities  13,625,647  8,565,593 

Equity

General fund  8,318,842  5,853,174 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  21,944,489  14,418,768 

Approved by the Commission on 16 April 2015

 ……………………………….   …………………………………….
 CHAIRPERSON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
The notes on pages 51 to 64 form part of these financial statements.

AnnuAl RepoRt 2014 & 2015   45



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2013

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING REVENUE

Revenue grant from government  36,928,601  34,099,797 

Other operating revenue 13  667,877  747,963 

Amortisation of deferred income 10  1,053,802  1,508,795 

Total revenue  38,650,280  36,356,555 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff cost 14  22,498,950  21,906,635 

Commissioners’ fee  3,907,935  3,340,142 

Capacity building  236,885  753,751 

Public education and information programme  1,170,175  205,366 

Overseas visits  1,650,935  2,555,841 

Professional fees  233,253  676,821 

Rent and utilities 15  3,631,076  3,755,965 

Other operating expenses 16  1,804,617  1,614,517 

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 8  1,049,202  1,059,856 

Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets  3,902  427,285 

Loss/(gain) on exchange rate  (2,318)  (4,010)

Total expenses  36,184,613  36,292,170 

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 2,465,668 64,385

The notes on pages 51 to 64 form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2014 
 

General fund

Rs.

Balance as at 01 January 2013  5,788,790 

Surplus for the year  64,385 

Balance as at 31 December 2013  5,853,174 

Balance as at 01 January 2014  5,853,174 

Surplus for the year  2,465,668 

Balance as at 31 December 2014  8,318,842 

The notes on pages 51 to 64 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2013

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net surplus for the period  2,465,668  64,385 

Adjustments for:-

Amortisation of deferred income 10  (1,053,802)  (1,508,795)

Retirement benefit obligations 12  (478,613)  (667,858)

Provision for refundable Leaves 11  676,010  824,103 

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 8  1,049,202  1,059,856 

Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets  3,902  427,285 

Operating surplus before working capital changes  2,662,367  198,975 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  46,564  (279,023)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  142,674  (79,071)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  28,602  23,970 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  579,515  (2,631,195)

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits  (439,575)  309,389 

Cash flow from/(absorbed by) operating activities  3,020,147  (2,456,955)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition of infrastructure, plant, equipment and intangible assets 7  (567,399)  (1,880,203)

Proceeds from sale of equipment  698  21,655 

Car loans granted to staff 5  (4,803,300)  -   

Loans Refunded to Accountant General 5  (72,793)  -   

Cash used in investing activities  (5,442,794)  (1,858,548)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Funds received for purchase of Non-Current Assets  567,399  1,880,203 

Loans received from Accountant General 5  4,803,300  -   

Loans repaid by staff 5  72,793  -   

Cash inflow from financing activities  5,443,492  1,880,203 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,020,845  (2,435,300)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4  7,887,195  10,322,495 

 10,908,040  7,887,195 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4  10,908,040  7,887,195 

    

The notes on pages 51 to 64 form part of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF BUDGET, ACTUAL CASH AND ACCRUED BASED AMOUNTS 
for the year ended 31 December 2014
          

Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget

Actual paid  Financial 
Statements 

Rs. Rs. Rs.  Rs. 

Expenditures

Staff cost  24,307,000  24,000,000  21,505,304  22,498,950 

Commissioners’ fees  3,813,000  3,915,000  3,912,658  3,907,935 

Training  1,000,000  275,000  236,885  236,885 

Public education and information programme  2,400,000  1,200,000  1,170,925  1,170,175 

Overseas visits  1,500,000  1,660,000  1,655,995  1,650,935 

Professional fees  2,000,000  450,000  434,950  233,253 

Electricity  480,000  360,000  354,193  354,193 

Water  27,000  53,000  51,579  51,579 

Telephone  350,000  300,000  292,559  292,559 

Office rent  2,800,000  2,800,000  2,759,892  2,759,892 

Other rent  84,000  10,000  3,500  3,500 

Parking facilities  210,000  170,000  165,183  169,353 

Advertising  200,000  20,000  14,605  14,605 

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses  250,000  260,000  258,001  249,596 

Office repairs and maintenance  150,000  100,000  89,205  89,061 

Cleaning services  145,000  170,000  168,056  161,827 

Insurance  51,000  20,000  11,924  10,687 

Stationeries and consumables  425,000  375,000  340,217  368,820 

Books, Periodicals and Publications  250,000  250,000  244,921  233,694 

Postage  38,000  70,000  65,567  65,567 

Bank charges  20,000  28,000  26,642  26,642 

Other office expenses  200,000  85,000  80,964  74,029 

IT expenses  200,000  350,000  349,463  510,089 

Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets  -    -    -    3,902 

Loss/(gain) on exchange rate  -    -    -    (2,318)

Capital expenditures  600,000  575,000  567,399  567,399 

 41,500,000  37,496,000  34,760,586  35,702,809 

           
For the purpose of the above comparison, depreciation and amortisation figures in the Financial Statement have been replaced by the actual 
capital spending on infrastructure, plant, equipment and intangible assets. These are presented under the item Capital expenditures.  
     
       

       
The notes on pages 51 to 64 form part of these financial statements.       
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STATEMENT FOR VARIANCES BETWEEN ORIGINAL AND REVISED BUDGET 
for the year ended 31 December 2014       
       

Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget

Variances: 
Original 

and Actual

Comments

Rs. Rs.

Expenditures

Staff cost  24,307,000  24,000,000  (307,000) Savings due to vacancies but effects partly 
reduce due to duty concession granted to staff

Commissioners’ fees  3,813,000  3,915,000     102,000   Driver’s allowance earned by Chairperson

Training  1,000,000  275,000  (725,000) Lesser training conducted though partly used 
on overseas workshop

Public education and information programme 2,400,000  1,200,000  (1,200,000) Savings on advocacy conducted

Overseas visits  1,500,000  1,660,000  160,000 Increase in attendance to overseas workshop

Professional fees  2,000,000  450,000  (1,550,000) Lesser requirements for expert advice

Electricity  480,000  360,000  (120,000) Decrease in requirements

Water  27,000  53,000  26,000 Increase in requirements

Telephone  350,000  300,000  (50,000) Decrease in requirements

Office rent  2,800,000  2,800,000  -   

Other rent  84,000  10,000  (74,000) Decrease in requirements

Parking facilities  210,000  170,000  (40,000) Savings due to vacancies

Advertising  200,000  20,000  (180,000) Decrease in requirements

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses  250,000  260,000  10,000 Increase in requirements

Repairs and maintenance  150,000  100,000  (50,000) Decrease in requirements

Cleaning services  145,000  170,000  25,000 Under-budgeted

Insurance  51,000  20,000  (31,000) Savings on cost

Stationeries and consumables  425,000  375,000  (50,000) Decrease in requirements

Books, Periodicals and Publications  250,000  250,000  -   

Postage  38,000  70,000  32,000 Increase in requirements

Bank charges  20,000  28,000  8,000 Under-budgeted

Other office expenses  200,000  85,000  (115,000)

IT expenses  200,000  350,000  150,000 Increase in requirements

Loss/(Gain) on Exchange  -    -    -   

Capital expenditures  600,000  575,000  (25,000) Decrease in requirements

 41,500,000  37,496,000  (4,004,000)

       

       
The notes on pages 51 to 64 form part of these financial statements.       
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014
      

1. General information     
      

 (a) Legal form and objectives
      

   The Competition Commission of Mauritius (CCM) is a statutory body established in 2009, running under the aegis of the Ministry of 

Financial Services, Good Governance and Institutional Reforms,  to enforce the  Competition Act 2007.  During 2014, the CCM was 

under the aegis of the Prime Minister’s Office.  The Act established a competition regime in Mauritius, under which the CCM can 

investigate possible anticompetitive behavior by businesses. 
      

  The CCM also has mandate, among others, to:
      

  (i)  keep the operation of markets in Mauritius and the conditions of competition in those markets under constant review;  
      

  (ii)  investigate any suspected breach of the prohibition of restrictive agreements;
      

  (iii) undertake general studies on the effectiveness of competition in individual sectors of the economy in Mauritius;  
      

  (iv)   liaise and exchange information, knowledge and expertise with competition authorities in other countries entrusted with 

functions similar to those of the Commission;
      

  (v) advise the Minister on international agreements relevant to competition matters and to this Act; and   
     

  (vi) publish and otherwise promote and advertise the provisions of the Act and the activities of the Commission.   

     

2. Accounting policies     
      

 The principal accounting policies adopted by CCM are as follows:     
      

 (a) Basis  of  preparation
      

   The financial statements of CCM have been prepared in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards 

(IPSASs) issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Board (IPSASB) which is a Board of the International Federation of 

Accountants Committee (IFAC).
      

   Where an IPSAS does not address a particular issue, the appropriate International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 

International Accounting Standards (IASs) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) are applied.   
      

   The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied consistently 

throughout the year. They have been prepared on the historical cost basis.
      

 (b) Measurement and presentation currency
      

  I tems included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 

operates.  The financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees which is CCM’s measurement currency.
      

   Foreign currency transactions are translated into the measurement currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)     
      

 (c) Revenue recognition 
      

   Revenue comprises mainly of government grants. It is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to 

the organisation and the revenue can be reliably measured.
      

  (i) Revenue grant    
      

   Grant received from Government to meet recurrent expenditure is treated as revenue grant.
      

  (ii) Capital grant    
      

    Grant received to finance capital expenditure is recognised as Deferred Income in the Statement of Financial Position and 

credited in instalments to the Statement of Financial Performance over the expected useful economic lives of the related assets 

on a basis consistent with its depreciation policy.    
      

 (d) Inventories    
      

  I nventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises of all costs that have been incurred in bringing 

the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less the estimated 

cost to be incurred in selling.    
      

 (e) Accounts receivable    
      

   Accounts receivable  are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for  estimated irrecoverable amounts.
      

 (f) Cash and cash equivalents    
      

   Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value. For the purposes of the cash flow 

statements, cash and cash equivalents comprises cash in hand and bank balances.    
      

 (g) Foreign currency transactions    
      

   Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Mauritian rupee at the exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date and 

gains or losses on translation are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.    
      

 (h) Accounts payable    
      

  Accounts payable are stated at their fair value.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)     
      

 (i) Infrastructure, plant and equipment and depreciation    
      

   Infrastructure, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost or revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and any 

impairment loss. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the infrastructure, plant and equipment on a straight line basis 

over their expected useful lives. Depreciation charged in the year of acquisition and disposal, is calculated on the approximate 

number of days the asset is used.
      

   The estimated useful lives are as follows:    

   Furniture and fittings   10 years 

   Office equipment   8 years 

   IT equipment   4 years 

   Motor vehicles   8 years 

   Improvements to building   8 years 
      

   Where the  carrying  amount of  an  asset  is  greater  than  its  estimated  recoverable  amount, it is written down immediately to its 

recoverable amount. 
      

   The gains or losses arising on disposal or retirement of an item of infrastructure, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 

between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in Statement of Financial Performance. 
      

 (j) Intangible assets
      

   IT Software costs are recognised as intangible assets and amortized in the Statement of Financial Performance using the straightline 

method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 years.
      

 (k) Lease    
      

  The CCM has a lease agreement for the occupation of floor spaces at Hennessy Court for office  purposes.   
      

 (l) Impairment
      

   At each reporting date, CCM reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those 

assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
      

   If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to 

its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance, unless the relevant 

asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
      

   Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 

recoverable amount so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 

the Statement of Financial Performance, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)     
      

 (m) Employee benefits
      

  (i) Retirement benefits under defined benefit pension plan
      

    CCM is a pensionable office. The staff pension fund is a defined benefit plan and its assets are managed by the SICOM Ltd. The 

cost of providing the benefit is determined in accordance with actuarial review.    

    The present value of defined benefit obligations is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a non-current liability 

or non-current asset after adjusting for fair value of plan assets, any unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and any 

unrecognised past service cost.
      

     The current service cost and any unrecognised past service cost are included as an expense together with the associated 

interest cost, net of expected return on plan assets.     
      

  (ii) Family protection scheme    
      

    For those employees holding a permanent and pensionable post, CCM also contributes to the Family Protection Scheme managed 

by SICOM Ltd. For those working on contractual basis, CCM contributes to the National Pension Scheme. The contributions are 

expensed to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year in which they fall due.    
      

  (iii) Employee leave entitlement    
      

    Employees are entitled to refundable annual and/or sick leave as may be defined in the terms and conditions of their contract 

of employment. Any balance of unutilised refundable leaves is valued at the end of the financial year and is recognised in the 

Statement of Financial Position.
      

    A provision is also made in respect of accumulated vacation leaves at the end of the financial year in the Financial Statements. 
      

 (n) Employee disclosure
      

   As at 31 December 2014, CCM had 21 full-time employees, of which 19 were on permanent basis and 2 on contractual basis. Two 

permanent employees were on leave without pay, one being the Deputy Executive Director, who was appointed as the Executive 

Director at CCM itself. The position of Executive Director is a contractual one.
      

 (o) Provisions
      

   Provisions are recognised when CCM has a present obligation as a result of a past events, and it is probable that it will be required 

to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at CCM best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the 

Statement of Financial Position date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 
      

 (p) Reclassification
      

   Certain reclassifications have been made to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and to that for 

2013, which has already been audited. The reclassifications had no effect on the previously reported surplus. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)     
      

   Item ‘Staff Welfare’ which was previously reported under ‘Other Operating Expenses’ is now under ‘Staff Cost’; while within ‘Other 

Operating Expenses’, cost relating to IT maintenance are now treated in item ‘IT Expenses’ instead of ‘Office Repairs and Maintenance’.
      

 (q) Contingent Liabilities
      

   As at 31 December 2014, the CCM had approved a sum of Rs1m for the settlement of possible legal charges and damages relating 

to a case lodged against the former Executive Director during the performance of his duty. 
      

   At the date of reporting, an amount of Rs 201,696 had been paid and there is no clear indication whether the balancing figure of Rs 

798,304 will be used.    
      

 (r) Comparative Figures
      

   Comparative figures have been re-grouped or re-stated, where necessary to conform to the current period’s presentation.  
      

 (s) Related parties
      

   For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to CCM if they have the ability to control the CCM 

or exercise significant influence over financial and operating  decision making.    

  All transactions undertaken with related parties were carried at commercial terms and conditions.
      

 (t) Risk management policies    
      

   CCM adopts a conservative approach to risk management. A description of  the significant risk factors are given below together with 

the relevant risk management policies:    
      

  (i) Operational risk management    
      

    Operational risk, which is inherent in all organisations activities, is the risk of financial loss instability arising from failures in 

internal controls, operational processes or the system that supports them. It is recognised that such risks can never be entirely 

eliminated and the costs of controls in minimising these risks may outweigh the potential benefits.   
      

  (ii) Legal risk    
      

    Legal risk is the risk that the business activities of CCM have unintended or unexpected legal consequences. It includes risks 

arising from :
      

   -  inadequate documentation, legal or regulatory incapacity, insufficient authority of a counterparty and uncertainty about 

the validity or enforceability of a contract in counterparty insolvency;   
      

   -  actual or potential violations of law or regulation (including activities unauthorised for the CCM and which may attract a 

civil or criminal fine or penalty);
      

   -  the possibility of civil claims (including acts or other events which may lead to litigation or other disputes);  
      

 CCM identifies and manages legal risk through  its legal team and the support of an external lawyer.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

3. Accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies.   
      

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IPSAS requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying 

the accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. Judgements and estimates are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations and assumptions concerning future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

The actual results could, by definition therefore, often differ from the related accounting estimates.   

      

4. Cash and cash equivalents 

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Cash at bank  10,842,607  7,886,329 

Cash in hand  54,078  -   

Petty cash balance  11,355  866 

 10,908,040  7,887,195 

  Cash at bank earns interests at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash is Rs10,908,040  

(2013: Rs7,887,195).   

      

5. Staff car loan
      

  Members of CCM’s staff are granted car loans, via the Accountant General, as per conditions stipulated in the CCM Human Resources 

Management Manual. Outstanding capital on loan due to the Accountant General is disclosed  into the accounts as liablities to the CCM, 

as the onus of ensuring reimbursement is transferred to the latter. Amount due by staff are disclosed into the accounts as assets to the 

CCM. Amount refunded by staff are immediately repaid to the Accountant General, such that amount of capital due by staff is equivalent 

to amount to the Accountant General. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

5. Staff car loan (contd.)

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Opening balance  -    -   

Loan granted to staff, via the Accountant General  4,803,300  -   

Loan refunded by staff and consequently to the Accountant General  (72,793)  -   

Closing balance  4,730,507  -   

Analysed as follows:   

Short-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable within one year  665,400 -

Long-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable after one year  4,065,107 -

 4,730,507 -

6. Inventories 

2014 2015

Rs. Rs.

Stationeries  467,763  499,990 

Consumables  18,604  14,979 

 486,367  514,970 
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7. Infrastructure, plant and equipment         
          

Furniture & 
fittings

Office 
equipment IT equipment Motor vehicles Total

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Cost

At  01 January 2014  1,499,858  1,211,252  2,503,540  839,450  6,054,101 

Additions  4,400  10,000  552,999  -    567,399 

Disposal  (9,200)  -    -    -    (9,200)

At 31 December 2014  1,495,058  1,221,252  3,056,539  839,450  6,612,299 

Depreciation

At  01 January 2014  377,197  492,136  1,576,321  489,679  2,935,333 

Charge for the year  149,414  151,462  437,075  104,931  842,883 

Disposal  (4,600)  -    -    -    (4,600)

At 31 December 2014  522,012  643,598  2,013,396  594,610  3,773,616 

Net book value

At 31 December 2014  973,047  577,654  1,043,143  244,840  2,838,683 

At 31 December 2013  1,122,661  719,116  927,220  349,771  3,118,768 

Note:  CCM is of the opinion that the net book value of the infrastructure, plant and equipment approximates its fair value.  
               

8. Intangible assets

IT Software

Rs.

Cost

At  01 January 2014  1,031,598 

Additions  -   

At 31 December 2014  1,031,598 

Amortisation

At  01 January 2014  540,055 

Charge for the year  206,320 

At 31 December 2014  746,375 

    

Net book value  285,223

At 31 December 2013  491,543 
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9. Trade and other payables 

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Trade creditors  150,120  141,371 

Accruals  903,636  332,870 

 1,053,756  474,241 

  
10. Deferred Income

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Opening balance  3,610,311  3,238,902 

Grant used for capital expenditure  567,399  1,880,203 

Amortisation for the year  (1,053,802)  (1,508,795)

Closing balance  3,123,907  3,610,311 

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Deferred income will be amortised as follows:

Current liabilities - Amortisation within one year  1,001,980  974,468 

Non-current liabilities - Amortisation after one year  2,121,928  2,635,842 

 3,123,907  3,610,311 

    
11. Employee obligations

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Current liabilities - Payable within one year

Provision for gratuity  3,190  289,295 

Provision for passage benefits  660,969  563,284 

Provision for refundable leaves (see below)  887,874  1,139,029 

 1,552,033  1,991,608 

Refundable leaves payable:

Current liabilities - Payable within one year  887,874  1,139,029 

Non-current liabilities - Payable after one year  3,165,444  2,489,434 

 4,053,318  3,628,463 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

12. Retirement benefit obligations   
      

  CCM operates a defined pension benefit scheme for qualifying employees which is held and administered independently by SICOM Ltd. 

Under the scheme, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits at 66.6 per cent of their final salary on attainment of retirement age.

The schemes are funded schemes. 
      

  The most recent actuarial valuations of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at  

31 December 2014 by SICOM Ltd.
   

Amounts recognised in statement of financial position at the end of year 2014 2014

Rs. Rs.

Present value of funded obligation  7,879,298  5,894,354 

Fair value of plan assets  (5,901,827)  (3,906,595)

 1,977,471  1,987,759 

Present value of unfunded obligation  -    -   

Unrecognised actuarial gain / (loss)  (4,268,277)  (3,799,952)

Liability recognised in statement of financial position at end of year  (2,290,806)  (1,812,193)

Amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income:

Current service cost  905,481  811,311 

Employee contributions  (486,336)  (532,696)

Fund expenses  74,403  27,239 

Interest cost  471,548  277,461 

Expected return on plan assets  (372,259)  (246,638)

Actuarial loss/(gain) recognised  103,565  60,856 

Past service cost recognised  -    -   

Total, included in staff costs  696,402  397,533 

    

Movement in liability recognised in statement of financial position:

At start of year  (1,812,193)  (1,144,335)

Total staff cost as above  696,402  397,533 

Actuarial reserves transferred in  (202,343)  -   

Contributions paid by employer  (972,672)  (1,065,391)

At end of year  (2,290,806)  (1,812,193)

Actual return on plan assets:  501,938  295,176 
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12. Retirement benefit obligations (contd.) 
    

Main actuarial assumptions at end of year:

Discount rate 8.00% 8.00%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00%

Future salary increases 5.50% 5.50%

Future pension increases 3.50% 3.50%

 The assets of the plan are invested in funds managed by State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd.     
 The  discount rate is determined by reference to market yields on bonds.

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation

Present value of obligation at start of  year  5,894,354  3,468,262 

Current service cost  905,481  811,311 

Interest cost  471,548  277,461 

Benefits paid  (93,653)  (41,665)

Liability (gain)/loss  701,568  1,378,985 

Present value of obligation at end of year  7,879,298  5,894,354 

    

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at start of year  3,906,595  2,318,378 

Expected return on plan assets  372,259  246,638 

Employer contributions  972,672  1,065,391 

Employee contributions  486,336  532,696 

Actuarial reserves transferred in  202,343  -   

Fund Expenses  (74,403)  (27,239)

Benefits paid + other outgo  (93,653)  (41,665)

Asset gain / (loss)  129,678  (187,604)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  5,901,827  3,906,595 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014 

12. Retirement benefit obligations (contd.) 

Distribution of plan assets at end of year 2014 2013

Percentage of assets at end of year      % %

Fixed Interest securities and cash 57.10% 59.10%

Loans 4.10% 4.90%

Local equities 21.10% 21.90%

Overseas bonds and equities 17.00% 13.40%

Property 0.70% 0.70%

Total 100.00% 100.00%

Additional disclosure on assets issued or used by the reporting entity 2014 2013

Percentage of assets at end of year        % %

Assets held in the entity’s own financial instruments 0.00% 0.00%

Property occupied by the entity 0.00% 0.00%

Other assets used by the entity 0.00% 0.00%

History of obligations, assets and experience adjustments 2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Fair value of plan assets  5,901,827  3,906,595 

Present value of defined benefit obligation  (7,879,298)  (5,894,354)

Surplus/(deficit)  (1,977,471)  (1,987,759)

Asset experience gain/(loss) during the year  129,678  (187,604)

Liability experience gain/(loss) during the year  (701,568)  (1,378,985)

Expected contributions for year 2014:  Rs1,875,000

13. Other operating revenue

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Interest received  183,063  78,708 

Sundry Income  6,201  1,397 

Retirement benefit obligations - Asset  478,613  667,858 

 667,877  747,963 
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14. Staff cost

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Salary  13,490,345  12,725,566 

Allowances  1,145,797  2,191,149 

End of Year Bonus  1,059,121  971,251 

Pension  1,401,670  1,408,645 

Travelling  1,628,617  1,609,022 

Gratuities  524,800  646,419 

Passage benefits  674,057  615,229 

Refund of leaves  805,494  1,344,769 

Staff Insurance Schemes  369,334  358,860 

Staff Welfare  54,711  35,725 

Duty Free to Staff  1,345,003  -   

 22,498,950  21,906,635 

15. Rent and utilities

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Electricity  354,193  433,382 

Water  51,579  38,967 

Telephone  292,559  355,803 

Office Rent  2,759,892  2,719,738 

Other Rent  3,500  -   

Parking facilities  169,353  208,075 

 3,631,076  3,755,965 

16. Other operating expenses

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Advertising  14,605  203,910 

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses  249,596  180,262 

Office repairs and maintenance  89,061  68,287 

Cleaning services  161,827  177,885 

Insurance  10,687  14,765 

Stationeries and consumables  368,820  308,007 

Books, Periodicals and Publications  233,694  30,640 

Postage  65,567  64,784 

Bank charges  26,642  23,363 

Other office expenses  74,029  292,845 

IT Expenses  510,089  249,770 

 1,804,617  1,614,517 
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17. Operating lease

   
  The future minimum lease payments under the operating lease agreement for the occupation of floor spaces at Hennessy Court for office  

purposes are as follows: 

2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Payable within one year  2,759,892  2,759,892 

Payable after one year but within five years  2,863,759  5,623,651 

Payable after five years  -    -   

5,623,651 8,383,543

18. Related party transactions
 Key management personnel   
  Key management personnel are persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 

Commission.
2014 2013

Rs. Rs.

Total emoluments and benefits  8,138,268  7,704,385 

Other Fringe Benefits   
  The Executive Director and Chairperson benefitted from the exclusive use of official car from the car pool of the Government, managed by 

the Mauritius Police Force.   
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2015

31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014

Re-Stated

Note Rs. Rs.

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4  11,670,045  10,908,040 

Short-Term staff car loan receivable 5  829,043  665,400 

Receivables  235,281  240,694

Prepayments  152,750  164,168 

Inventories 6  324,409  486,367 

 13,211,528  12,464,669 

Non-current assets

Long-Term staff car loan receivable 5  4,164,636  4,065,107 

Infrastructure, plant and equipment 7  2,604,537  2,838,683 

Intangible assets 8  78,904  285,223 

Retirement benefits obligations 11  2,875,439  2,290,806 

 9,723,515  9,479,820 

TOTAL ASSETS  22,935,044  21,944,489 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 9  790,728  941,227 

Employee obligations 10  2,074,068  1,552,033 

Short-Term staff car loan payable 5  829,043  665,400 

 3,693,838  3,158,660 

Non-current liabilities 

Employee obligations 10  4,553,678  3,165,444 

Long-Term staff car loan payable 5  4,164,636  4,065,107 

 8,718,314  7,230,551 

Total Liabilities  12,412,153  10,389,211 

Equity

Revaluation Surplus  180,404  - 

General fund  10,342,487  11,555,279 

 10,522,891  11,555,279 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  22,935,044  21,944,490 

Approved by the Commission on 21 April 2016

                 ……………………………….                                                                     …………………………………….
                                CHAIRPERSON                                                                                                    EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The notes on pages 75 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014

Re-Stated

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING REVENUE

Revenue grant from government  32,378,000  37,496,000 

Other operating revenue 12  28,792  189,264 

Total revenue  32,406,792  37,685,264 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff cost 13  21,535,943  22,020,337 

Commissioners’ fee  3,039,523  3,907,935 

Capacity building  434,195  236,885 

Public education and information programme  -  1,170,175 

Overseas visits  1,497,458  1,650,935 

Professional fees  1,037,528  233,253 

Rent and utilities 14  3,480,195  3,579,497 

Other operating expenses 15  1,567,318  1,856,196 

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 8  1,037,611  1,049,202 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets  -  3,902 

Gain on exchange rate  (10,188)  (2,318)

Total expenses  33,619,583  35,706,000 

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR  (1,212,792)  1,979,265 

The notes on pages 75 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Revaluation 
Surplus General fund Total

Rs.

Balance as at 01 January 2014  -  5,853,174  5,853,174 

Prior year adjustment (Note 18)  -  3,722,840  3,722,840 

 -  9,576,014  9,576,014 

Surplus for the year  -  1,979,265  1,979,265 

Balance as at 31 December 2014  -  11,555,279  11,555,279 

Balance as at 01 January 2015  -  11,555,279  11,555,279 

Revaluation surplus for the year  180,404  -  180,404 

Deficit for the year  -  (1,212,792)  (1,212,792)

Balance as at 31 December 2015  180,404  10,342,487  10,522,891 

The notes on pages 75 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014

Re-Stated

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year  (1,212,792)  1,979,265 

Adjustments for:-

Staff Cost - Retirement benefit obligations 13  (584,633)  (478,613)

Provision for refundable Leaves 10  1,388,235  676,010 

Depreciation and amortisation 7 & 8  1,037,611  1,049,202 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets  -  3,902 

Operating surplus before working capital changes  628,421  3,229,766 

Decrease in receivables  5,413  46,564 

Decrease in prepayments  11,418  142,674 

Decrease in inventories  161,958  28,602 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (150,499)  579,515 

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits  522,034  (439,575)

Cash flow from operating activities  1,178,745  3,587,546 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition of infrastructure, plant, equipment and intangible assets 7  (416,740)  (567,399)

Proceeds from sale of equipment  -  698 

Car loans granted to staff 5  (1,000,000)  (4,803,300)

Loans Refunded to Accountant General 5  (736,828)  (72,793)

Cash used in investing activities  (2,153,569)  (5,442,794)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loans received from Accountant General 5  1,000,000  4,803,300 

Loans repaid by staff 5  736,828  72,793 

Cash inflow from financing activities  1,736,828  4,876,093 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  762,005  3,020,845 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4  10,908,040  7,887,195 

 11,670,045  10,908,040 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4  11,670,045  10,908,040 

The notes on pages 75 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF BUDGET, ACTUAL CASH AND ACCRUED BASED AMOUNTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget Actual paid  Financial 

Statements 

Rs. Rs. Rs.  Rs. 

Expenditures

Staff cost  25,872,000  21,081,000  20,990,010  21,535,943 

Commissioners’ fees  3,477,000  3,037,000  3,034,800  3,039,523 

Training  400,000  435,000  432,695  434,195 

Public education and information programme  400,000  -  -  - 

Overseas visits  1,500,000  1,500,000  1,497,458  1,497,458 

Professional fees  850,000  1,040,000  1,034,948  1,037,528 

Electricity  360,000  340,000  303,450  335,650 

Telephone  300,000  245,000  205,045  247,838 

Office rent  2,760,000  2,760,000  2,759,892  2,759,892 

Other rent  10,000  -  -  - 

Parking facilities  150,000  140,000  136,815  136,815 

Advertising  135,000  95,000  92,833  92,833 

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses  340,000  310,000  307,201  342,125 

Office repairs and maintenance  125,000  50,000  46,462  43,338 

Cleaning services  150,000  130,000  127,656  133,885 

Insurance  17,500  10,000  8,046  6,895 

Stationeries and consumables  400,000  155,000  132,410  319,270 

Books, Periodicals and Publications  275,000  135,000  132,843  139,528 

Postage  65,000  30,000  26,206  28,609 

Bank charges  30,000  25,000  20,320  20,320 

Other office expenses  230,000  115,000  110,290  122,888 

IT expenses  335,000  320,000  318,432  317,628 

Capital expenditures  500,000  425,000  392,705  416,740 

 38,681,500  32,378,000  32,110,517  32,998,713 

  

For the purpose of the above comparison, depreciation and amortisation figures in the Financial Statement have been replaced by the actual 
capital spending on infrastructure, plant, equipment and intangible assets. These are presented under the item Capital expenditures.

The notes on pages 75 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT FOR VARIANCES BETWEEN ORIGINAL AND REVISED BUDGET
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget

Variances: 
Original and 

Actual
Comments

Rs. Rs.

Expenditures

Staff cost  25,872,000  21,081,000  (4,791,000) Savings due to vacancies and lower 
allowances paid

Commissioners’ fees  3,477,000  3,037,000  (440,000) Vacancy of Vice-chairperson

Training  400,000  435,000  35,000 Increase in cost of overseas training

Public education and information programme  400,000  -  (400,000) No advocacy conducted

Overseas visits  1,500,000  1,500,000  - 

Professional fees  850,000  1,040,000  190,000 Increase in requirements for external legal 
advices.

Electricity  360,000  340,000  (20,000) Decrease in consumption

Telephone  300,000  245,000  (55,000) Decrease in consumption

Office rent  2,760,000  2,760,000  - 

Other rent  10,000  -  (10,000)

Parking facilities  150,000  140,000  (10,000)

Advertising  135,000  95,000  (40,000) Decrease in requirements

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses  340,000  310,000  (30,000) Decrease in requirements

Repairs and maintenance  125,000  50,000  (75,000) Decrease in requirements

Cleaning services  150,000  130,000  (20,000)

Insurance  17,500  10,000  (7,500)

Stationeries and consumables  400,000  155,000  (245,000) Decrease in consumption

Books, Periodicals and Publications  275,000  135,000  (140,000) Annual report not printed

Postage  65,000  30,000  (35,000) Decrease in requirements

Bank charges  30,000  25,000  (5,000)

Other office expenses  230,000  115,000  (115,000) Decrease in requirements

IT expenses  335,000  320,000  (15,000)

Capital expenditures  500,000  425,000  (75,000) Savings on items not yet purchased

 38,681,500  32,378,000 (6,303,500)

The notes on pages 75 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
     

1. General information     

 (a) Legal form and objectives

   The Competition Commission of Mauritius (CCM) is a statutory body established in 2009, running under the aegis of the Ministry 

of Financial Services, Good Governance and Institutional Reforms,  to enforce the  Competition Act 2007. The Act established a 

competition regime in Mauritius, under which the CCM can investigate possible anticompetitive behavior by businesses.

  The CCM also has mandate, among others, to: 

  (i)  keep the operation of markets in Mauritius and the conditions of competition in those markets under constant review; 

  (ii)  investigate any suspected breach of the prohibition of restrictive agreements;

  (iii) undertake general studies on the effectiveness of competition in individual sectors of the economy in Mauritius; 

  (iv)   liaise and exchange information, knowledge and expertise with competition authorities in other countries entrusted with 

functions similar to those of the Commission;

  (v) advise the Minister on international agreements relevant to competition matters and to this Act; and  

 

  (vi) publish and otherwise promote and advertise the provisions of the Act and the activities of the Commission.  

 

2. Accounting policies     

 The principal accounting policies adopted by CCM are as follows:     

 (a) Basis  of  preparation

   The financial statements of CCM have been prepared in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards 

(IPSASs) issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Board (IPSASB) which is a Board of the International Federation of 

Accountants Committee (IFAC).

   The Commission has adopted the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) following amendments to the Statutory 

Bodies (Accounts and Audit) Act. 

   The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies have been applied consistently 

throughout the year. They have been prepared on the historical cost basis, adjusted for revaluation of assets.  

 

 (b) Measurement and presentation currency

   Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 

operates.  The financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees which is CCM’s measurement currency. 

   Foreign currency transactions are translated into the measurement currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Exchange differences are recognised in the period in which they arise.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)     

 (c) Revenue recognition

   Revenue comprises mainly of government grants. It is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to 

the organisation and the revenue can be reliably measured.     

  (i) Revenue grant    

  Grants received from Government to meet recurrent expenditure are treated as revenue grant.   

  (ii) Capital grant    

   Up to 31 December 2013, grants received to finance capital expenditure were treated as Deferred Income in the Statement of 

Financial Position and credited in instalments to the Statement of Financial Performance over the expected useful economic lives of 

the related assets on a basis consistent with its depreciation policy.

   With the full implementation of IPSAS 23 ‘Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)’ as from  

1 January 2014, the deferment policy has been reviewed and transfers received are now recognised as income in the period in which 

the transfer arrangement becomes binding.    

 (d) Inventories    

   Inventories consist of stationeries and consumables, and are tated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises of all 

costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the 

estimated selling price less the estimated cost to be incurred in selling.      

 (e) Accounts receivable    

   Accounts receivable  are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for  estimated irrecoverable 

amounts. 

 (f) Cash and cash equivalents    

   Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value. For the purposes of the cash flow 

statements, cash and cash equivalents comprises cash in hand and bank balances.    

 (g) Foreign currency transactions    

   Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Mauritian rupee at the exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date and 

gains or losses on translation are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.    

 (h) Accounts payable    

  Accounts payable are stated at their fair value.    
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76  AnnuAl RepoRt 2014 & 2015



AnnuAl RepoRt 2014 & 2015   77

  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)

 (i) Infrastructure, plant and equipment and depreciation

   Infrastructure, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss. Depreciation 

is calculated to write off the cost of the infrastructure, plant and equipment on a straight line basis over their expected useful 

lives. Depreciation charged in the year of acquisition and disposal, is calculated on the approximate number of days the asset is 

used. 

  The estimated useful lives are as follows:    

 Furniture and fittings   10 years 

 Office equipment   8 years 

 IT equipment   4 years 

 Motor vehicles   8 years 

   The gains or losses arising on disposal or retirement of an item of infrastructure, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 

between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in Statement of Financial Performance.

   Capital Expenditure costing Rs 5,000 and less will be expensed to the Statement of Financial Performance as from 2016.  

 (j) Revaluation of Infrastructure Plant and Equipment

   Infrastructure, plant and equipment are revalued internally.  Increase in carrying amount of a class of assets is credited directly to 

revaluation surplus.  However, the increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of 

the same class of assets previously recognised in surplus or deficit.    

   If the carrying amount of a class of assets is decreased, the decrease is recognised in surplus or deficit.  However the decrease is 

directly debited to revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that class 

of assets.

   On retirement or disposal of a revalued asset, the whole revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred directly to the 

accumulated surplus or deficit.

  Existing fixed assets of Rs 5,000 and less would not be subject to revaluation.    

 (k) Intangible assets    

   IT Software costs are recognised as intangible assets and amortized in the Statement of Financial Performance using the straightline 

method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 years.    

 (l) Lease    

  The CCM has a lease agreement for the occupation of the 10th floor at Hennessy Court for office  purposes.   
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for the year ended 31 December 2015
    

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)

 (m) Impairment    

   At each reporting date, CCM reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 

have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 

the extent of the impairment loss, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

   If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to 

its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance, unless the relevant 

asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

   Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 

recoverable amount so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 

the Statement of Financial Performance, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.    

 (n) Employee benefits    

  (i) Retirement benefits under defined benefit pension scheme    

    CCM is a pensionable office and operates both a defined benefit scheme and a defined contribution scheme. The assets are 

managed by the SICOM Ltd.

    Under the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing the benefit is determined in accordance with actuarial review. 

    The present value of defined benefit obligations is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a non-current liability 

or non-current asset after adjusting for fair value of plan assets, any unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and any 

unrecognised past service cost.

    The current service cost and any unrecognised past service cost are included as an expense together with the associated 

interest cost, net of expected return on plan assets.    

  (ii)   Retirement benefits under defined contribution pension scheme    

    A public pension defined contribution scheme has been set up with effect from 1 January 2013 following amendments to 

the Statutory Bodies Pension Funds Act 1978. New entrants on pensionable basis, as from 1 January 2013, contributes 6% 

of their salaries to this scheme. The CCM contribute 12% and such contributions are charged to the Statement of Financial 

Performance in the period to whch it relates.    

  (iii)  Family protection scheme    

    For those employees holding a permanent and pensionable post, CCM also contributes to the Family Protection Scheme managed 

by SICOM Ltd. For those working on contractual basis, CCM contributes to the National Pension Scheme . The contributions are 

expensed to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year in which they fall due.
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2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)

 (n) Employee benefits (contd.) 

  (iv)  Employee leave entitlement    

    Employees are entitled to refundable annual and/or sick leave as may be defined in the terms and conditions of their contract 

of employment. Any balance of unutilised refundable leaves is valued at the end of the financial year and is recognised in the 

Statement of Financial Position.

    A provision is also made in respect of accumulated vacation leaves at the end of the financial year in the Financial Statements. 

 (o) Employee disclosure    

   As at 31 December 2015, CCM had nineteen employees on permanent and pensionable basis, two on contractual basis and one 

on probationary. One of the permanent employees was on leave without pay, while another was on interdiction with pay since May 

2015.    

 (p) Provisions    

   Provisions are recognised when CCM has a present obligation as a result of a past events, and it is probable that it will be required 

to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at CCM best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the 

Statement of Financial Position date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.   

 (q) Contingent Liabilities    

   As at 31 December 2015, the CCM had approved a sum of Rs1m for the settlement of possible legal charges and damages relating 

to a case lodged against former Executive Director, Dr. Sean Ennis, during the performance of his duty.   

   At the date of reporting, an amount of Rs 201,696 had been paid and there is no clear indication whether the balancing figure of Rs 

798,304 will be used.    

 (r) Comparative Figures    

   Comparative figures have been re-grouped or re-stated, where necessary to conform to the current period’s presentation.

 (s) Related parties    

   For the purpose of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to CCM if they have the ability to control the CCM 

or exercise significant influence over financial and operating  decision making.    

  All transactions undertaken with related parties were carried at commercial terms and conditions.   

 (t) Risk management policies    

   CCM adopts a conservative approach to risk management. A description of  the significant risk factors are given below together with 

the relevant risk management policies:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
    

2. Accounting policies  (cont’d)

 (t) Risk management policies (contd.) 

  (i)  Operational risk management    

    Operational risk, which is inherent in all organisations activities, is the risk of financial loss instability arising from failures in 

internal controls, operational processes or the system that supports them. It is recognised that such risks can never be entirely 

eliminated and the costs of controls in minimising these risks may outweigh the potential benefits.  

  (ii) Legal risk    

    Legal risk is the risk that the business activities of CCM have unintended or unexpected legal consequences. It includes risks 

arising from :

   -  inadequate documentation, legal or regulatory incapacity, insufficient authority of a counterparty and uncertainty about 

the validity or enforceability of a contract in counterparty insolvency; 

   -  actual or potential violations of law or regulation (including activities unauthorised for the CCM and which may attract a 

civil or criminal fine or penalty);

   - the possibility of civil claims (including acts or other events which may lead to litigation or other disputes); 

 

    CCM identifies and manages legal risk through  its legal team and the support of an external lawyer, as and when required.

3. Accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies.     

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IPSAS requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying 

the accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. Judgements and estimates are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience 

and other factors, including expectations and assumptions concerning future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. The actual results could, by definition therefore, often differ from the related accounting estimates.   

        
4. Cash and cash equivalents

2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Cash at bank  11,660,122  10,842,607 

Cash in hand  -    54,078 

Petty cash balance  9,923  11,355 

 11,670,045  10,908,040 

      
  Cash at bank earned interests at floating rates based on daily bank deposits from 1 January 2015 to 27 April 2015. No interest was 

earned on bank deposits from 28 April 2015 onwards following a change in policy of the bank. The fair value of cash is Rs11,670,045  
(2014: Rs10,908,040). 
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5. Staff car loan
     

  Members of CCM’s staff are granted car loans, via the Accountant General, as per conditions stipulated in the CCM Human Resources 

Management Manual. Outstanding capital on loan due to the Accountant General is disclosed  into the accounts as liablities to the CCM, 

as the onus of ensuring reimbursement is transferred to the latter. Amount due by staff are disclosed into the accounts as assets to the 

CCM. Amount refunded by staff are immediately repaid to the Accountant General, such that amount of capital due by staff is equivalent 

to amount to the Accountant General .

     

2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Opening balance  4,730,507  -   

Loan granted to staff, via the Accountant General  1,000,000  4,803,300 

Loan refunded by staff and consequently to the Accountant General  (736,828)  (72,793)

Closing balance  4,993,679  4,730,507 

    

Analysed as follows:

Short-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable within one year  829,043  665,400 

Long-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable after one year  4,164,636  4,065,107 

 4,993,679  4,730,507 
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6. Inventories

2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Stationeries  313,298  467,763 

Consumables  11,111  18,604 

 324,409  486,367 

7. Infrastructure, plant and equipment
         

Furniture & 
fittings Office equipment IT equipment Motor vehicles Total

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Cost

At  01 January 2015  1,495,058  1,221,252  3,056,539  839,450  6,612,299 

Revaluation  (585,836)  (585,836)

Additions  48,875  13,358  354,507  -    416,740 

Disposal  -    -    -    -    -   

At 31 December 2015  1,543,933  1,234,610  2,825,210  839,450  6,443,204 

Depreciation

At  01 January 2015  522,012  643,598  2,013,396  594,610  3,773,616 

Revaluation  (766,239)  (766,239)

Charge for the year  149,888  153,426  423,045  104,931  831,291 

Disposal  -    -    -    -   

At 31 December 2015  671,900  797,024  1,670,201  699,542  3,838,667 

 -    -    -    -   

Net book value

At 31 December 2015  872,033  437,586  1,155,009  139,908  2,604,537 

At 31 December 2014  973,047  577,654  1,043,144  244,840  2,838,684 

          
Note:  CCM is of the opinion that the net book value of the infrastructure, plant and equipment approximates its fair value. 
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8. Intangible assets

IT Software

Rs.

Cost

At  01 January 2015  1,031,598 

At 31 December 2015  1,031,598 

    

Amortisation

At  01 January 2015  746,375 

Charge for the year  206,320 

At 31 December 2015  952,695 

 

Net book value

At 31 December 2015  78,904 

At 31 December 2014  285,223 

    
9. Trade and other payables

2015 2014

Re-Stated

Rs. Rs.

Trade creditors  727,886  150,120 

Accruals  62,843  791,107 

 790,728  941,227 
    
10. Employee obligations

2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Current liabilities - Payable within one year

Provision for gratuity  359,534  3,190 

Provision for passage benefits  999,632  660,969 

Provision for refundable leaves (see below)  714,902  887,874 

 2,074,068  1,552,033 

Refundable leaves payable:

Current liabilities - Payable within one year  714,902  887,874 

Non-current liabilities - Payable after one year  4,553,678  3,165,444 

 5,268,580  4,053,318 
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11. Retirement benefit obligations   
    

  CCM operates a defined pension benefit scheme for qualifying employees which is held and administered independently by SICOM Ltd. 
Under the scheme, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits at 66.6 per cent of their final salary on attainment of retirement age.

The schemes are funded schemes.   
 

  The most recent actuarial valuations of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at  

31 December 2015 by SICOM Ltd.

Amounts recognised in statement of financial position at the end of year 2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Present value of funded obligation  9,424,163  7,879,298 

Fair value of plan assets  (7,217,805)  (5,901,827)

 2,206,358  1,977,471 

Unrecognised actuarial loss  (5,081,797)  (4,268,277)

Liability recognised in statement of financial position at end of year  (2,875,439)  (2,290,806)

Amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income:

Current service cost  966,489  905,481 

Employee contributions  (598,629)  (486,336)

Fund expenses  32,872  74,403 

Interest cost  590,947  471,548 

(Expected return on plan assets)  (495,066)  (372,259)

Actuarial loss recognised  116,012  103,565 

Total, included in staff costs  612,625  696,402 

Movement in liability recognised in statement of financial position:

At start of year  (2,290,806)  (1,812,193)

Total staff cost as above  612,625  696,402 

(Actuarial reserves transferred in)  -    (202,343)

(Contributions paid by employer)  (1,197,258)  (972,672)

At end of year  (2,875,439)  (2,290,806)

Actual return on plan assets:  70,608  501,938 

Main actuarial assumptions at end of year:

Discount rate 7.50% 8.00%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 7.50% 8.00%

Future salary increases 5.00% 5.50%

Future pension increases 3.00% 3.50%

The assets of the plan are invested in funds managed by State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd.  

The  discount rate is determined by reference to market yields on bonds.
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11. Retirement benefit obligations (cont’d) 

2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation

Present value of obligation at start of  year  7,879,298  5,894,354 

Current service cost  966,489  905,481 

Interest cost  590,947  471,548 

(Benefits paid)  (364,922)  (93,653)

Liability (gain)/loss  352,351  701,568 

Present value of obligation at end of year  9,424,163  7,879,298 

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at start of year  5,901,827  3,906,595 

Expected return on plan assets  495,066  372,259 

Employer contributions  1,197,258  972,672 

Employee contributions  598,629  486,336 

Actuarial reserves transferred in  -    202,343 

Fund Expenses  (32,872)  (74,403)

(Benefits paid + other outgo)  (364,922)  (93,653)

Asset (loss) / gain  (577,181)  129,678 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  7,217,805  5,901,827 

Distribution of plan assets at end of year 2015 2014

Percentage of assets at end of year        

Fixed Interest securities and cash 58.10% 57.10%

Loans 4.30% 4.10%

Local equities 15.90% 21.10%

Overseas bonds and equities 21.00% 17.00%

Property 0.70% 0.70%

Total 100.00% 100.00%

Additional disclosure on assets issued or used by the reporting entity 2015 2014

Percentage of assets at end of year        

Assets held in the entity’s own financial instruments 0.00% 0.00%

Property occupied by the entity 0.00% 0.00%

Other assets used by the entity 0.00% 0.00%
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11. Retirement benefit obligations (cont’d)

History of obligations, assets and experience adjustments 2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Fair value of plan assets  7,217,805  5,901,827 

Present value of defined benefit obligation  (9,424,163)  (7,879,298)

Deficit  (2,206,358)  (1,977,471)

Asset experience (loss)/ gain during the year  (577,181)  129,678 

Liability experience loss during the year  (352,351)  (701,568)

Expected employer contributions for year 2015:  Rs1,361,000

    
12. Other operating revenue

2015 2014

Re-Stated

Rs. Rs.

Interest received  28,212  183,063 

Sundry Income  580  6,201 

 28,792  189,264 

13. Staff cost 

2015 2014

Re-Stated

Rs. Rs.

Salary  14,018,112  13,490,345 

Allowances  373,455  1,145,797 

End of Year Bonus  1,006,323  1,059,121 

Travelling  1,411,680  1,628,617 

Pension  1,096,905  923,057 

Gratuities  405,934  524,800 

Passage benefits  655,045  674,057 

Refund of leaves  1,650,826  805,494 

Staff Insurance Schemes  378,676  369,334 

Staff Welfare  82,904  54,711 

Duty Free to Staff  456,083  1,345,003 

 21,535,943  22,020,337 
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14. Rent and utilities

2015 2014

Re-Stated

Rs. Rs.

Electricity  335,650  354,193 

Telephone  247,838  292,559 

Office Rent  2,759,892  2,759,892 

Other Rent  -    3,500 

Parking facilities  136,815  169,353 

 3,480,195  3,579,497 

    
15. Other operating expenses

2015 2014

Re-Stated

Rs. Rs.

Advertising  92,833  14,605 

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses  342,125  249,596 

Office repairs and maintenance  43,338  89,061 

Cleaning services  133,885  161,827 

Insurance  6,895  10,687 

Stationeries and consumables  319,270  368,820 

Books, Periodicals and Publications  139,528  233,694 

Postage  28,609  65,567 

Bank charges  20,320  26,642 

Other office expenses  122,888  125,608 

IT Expenses  317,628  510,089 

 1,567,318  1,856,196 

16. Operating lease

  The future minimum lease payments under the operating lease agreement for the occupation of floor spaces at Hennessy Court for office  
purposes are as follows:   

2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Payable within one year  2,759,892  2,759,892 

Payable after one year but within five years  103,867  2,863,759 

 2,863,759  5,623,651 
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17. Related party transactions

Key management personnel   

 Key management personnel are persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 

Commission.   

2015 2014

Rs. Rs.

Total emoluments and benefits  5,614,687  8,138,268 

Other Fringe Benefits   

The Executive Director and Chairperson benefitted from the exclusive use of official car from the car pool of the Government, managed by 

the Mauritius Police Force.   

    

18. Prior year adjustments

 Change in Accounting Policy resulting from application of IPSAS 23

  Up to 31 December 2013, grants received from Government for capital expenditure were treated as deferred income and an amount equal 

to the depreciation and amortisation charge for the year was transferred to surplus/(deficit). With the full implementation of IPSAS 23 

‘Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)’ as from 1 January 2014, the deferment policy has been reviewed and 

transfers received are now recognised as income in the period in which the transfer arrangement becomes binding.  

 The effect of the adjustment following the change in accounting policy has:

  (i)    increased general fund of Rs  5,853,174 at 31 December 2013 by Rs 3,610,311 and reduced deferred income by the same 

amount.    

  (ii)    increased revenue for the year 2014 by Rs 567,399 and reduced deferred income at 31 December 2014 by the same amount. 

Amortisation of deferred income to the tune of Rs 1,053,802 is cancelled in 2014.  The surplus for the year 2014 is thus reduced 

by Rs 486,403 to reach an amount of Rs 1,979,265.

  The change in accounting policy will have an adverse impact on the Surplus / (Deficit) for those future periods in which receipt of transfers 

are expected to be less than the depreciation and amortisation charge.   

 Provisions written back   

  Included in trade and other payables is a provision of Rs 112,529, representing expenses incurred and  paid by Mr Paul Lugard in August 

2011 for the delivery of a training. CCM agreed to refund those expenses but Mr Paul Lugard failed to make a claim and the provision has 

been written back.

 The effect of the adjustment has:   

  (i)   increased general fund at 31 December 2013 by Rs 112,529 and reduced trade and other  payables by the same 

amount.  
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19. Revaluation of Assets   

 IT Equipment   

  The whole class of IT Equipment was revalued internally, with effective date 31 December 2015. The valuation exercise resulted in a 

surplus of Rs 180,403.85, made up as follows:   

 > Computers and printers     -    Rs 50,917.14   

 > Server room equipments    -    Rs 129,486.71   

  While conducting the above revaluation, the remaining useful life of the assets were assessed to determine the carrying values as 

at 31 December 2015.   

  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



ANNUAL REPORT 2014 & 2015

Competition Commission of Mauritius
10th Floor, Hennessy Court

Cnr Suffren Road and Pope Hennessy Street,
Port Louis, Republic of Mauritius

T (230) 211 2005 |   F (230) 211 3107
www.ccm.mu


